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Financial Highlights for the year ended 31 March 2015

Financial Highlights

Year to 31 March 20153 20104 Increase 2013
000 LO0O A000
l'urnover 174,855 163,117 72% 143,069
Opcratng profit* 10,564 0,478 11 4% 7,369
Operating margin® 6 0% 58% 34% 5 2%
Proht before taxation* 10,107 8,682 16 4% 6,969
Eaunings pet share* 40 3p 369 92% 287p
Total ordinary dividend per share 12 5p 11 4p 9 6% 10 2p
Equnty sharchotders’ funds 62,231 58,108 71% 47,467
Cash and cash equivalents 12,501 11,234 11 3% 8,075
* Adpiosted for exceptional items
Turnover (£000 5) Adjusted EFS Dividend
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2017 2017 2013 2014 2018

Financial Calendar

Record date for final dimdend 2015

6 August 2015

AGM

26 August 2015

Payment of final divdend

28 August 2015

Intenim 2015/16 results announcement

26 November 2015

Interim dividend expected payment date

29 January 2016

Preliminary announcement of 2015716 results

23 Junc 2016

AGM 2016

24 Auguste 2016
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Chairman’s Statement

I am pleased 1o report good trading resuls lor the
financial vear ta 31 March 2015

Group revenuc for the financral year to 31 March 2015 was
£1749m, 7 2% up on last year s €163 1m The operaung
ptofit was £10 6m, up &1 1m from £9 5Sm which together
wich pre-tax profit, post-tax profit and earmings per share
shown below, 1s adjusied to exclude £1 8m of excepuional
gans relaung 10 the pension scheme last year The hugher
volume traded this year has inercased costs, notably

in distribution

Finance mcome was £46 000 against $27,000 last year
Finance costs, whih are prinapally ierest on the
pension scheme defiat as calculated under 1AS19
(revised) were £3503,000 against 823,000 last year

Prc tax profit was £10 1m, up &1 4m from an adjusted
profit of £8 7m last yedr The tax charge represents d rate
of 22 6% up from last year's 18 0% which bencfited
fram 4 credit due to a reducnion in rates of tax used in
deferred tax calculauons Post-tax profit for the year 15
&7 8m, up from last year's adjusied figure of £6 8m

Earnings per sharc were 40 3p compared 10 last vear’s
adjusted 36 9p

NUD dssels (total equity) were 562 2Zm compared
£58 1m last year

At the year end the groups cash reserves stood at
£12 5m compuared 10 11 2Zm last year

Final dividend

rhe directors recommend a final dividend of 8 8p per
ordinary share (2014 80p) The final dvidend will be
pad on 28 August 2015 to sharcholders on the register
at the close of business on 7 August 2015 The shares
will bccome ex-dividend on 6 August 2015

I'he total dividend per ordinary share of 12 5p for the
year 15 conered 3 2 umes by earnings (2014 3 2 umes)
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Financial year 2014/15

The group s resules are based on the trading of Lathams
Limited, a speuahst pancl and tmber distnibutor
Revenue conuinued t© grow dunng the year, duc 10
increased volumes both in ex-warchouse and direct
bustness Year on yedr growth was shghtly lower in the
sceond half year, because 2013/14 had been a very strong
final quarter Both panel and umbut grew revenuecs
throughout the year The gross margin per cent, beforc
warchouse costs, increascd by 04 porcentage points,
due 0 a better product mix

Timber and panel pnces remained sieady throughout
the year Focus panel products incuding Melaminc
Pancls and Door Blanks, contnuad o show good
gtowth  Accoya modificd wood and Woodlx, our
hrand of engincered umber for the jomery sector, weic
parucularly successful this year

Overheads have been controlled, and are within our
budget forecast but higher than last ycar's due to the
extra volumes, smaller order size and later order umes
for next day delivery Suaft numbers have increased
dunng the yoar, with sdles staff receurted inarcas of the
busincss whoere we sce apportunities  Bad debrs were
low overall fon the vear, despiic the relanvely high level
scen n the first quarter of the financial year

Pension Scheme

The Company and the Trustees of the James Latham plc
Pension and Assurance Scheme have approved the
tnennial valuauon dated 31 March 2014 with the scheme
Actuary This valuauon shows a shortfall of assets of
£1,546,000 compared to a shortfali of £9,030,000 1n the
previous valuanon dated 31 March 2011 The Company
has agrced a4 recovery plan over two years with the
I'rustees, and wili conunue 1ts previous recoverv plan,
paving 41,155,000 1n the year w0 31 March 2015 and then
£420,000 1n the year to 31 March 2016




At 31 Marth 2015 the defiar of the defined bendfit scheme
under 14519 (revised) was £104m up $1 Im compared
with £93m last year This increase s the result ot the
fall i the corporate bond yield used to calculate the
present value of the schemes habiives and reflects
the volauhry of the accounung for this scheme

Current financial year 2014/15

Thus year so far revenues are 7% higher for April and May
than the corresponding penod last year, both in pancls
and umber The gross margin s also higher Itis a swcady
start to the year and generally customens are busier than
they were for the final quarter of the last financial year

The panels market remains particularly compcutive
although we arc scemng encouraging growth in the
newer decorative products we have introduced

Development strategy

The directors conunue to denuly opportuniues for
growth and 1o introduce and promote new produces
Investment in the business continues and plans arc
buing drawn up 10 upgrade our two older sites ar
Yate and Wigston over the next two 1o three years, to
emulate the success that investment in new facilines has
delivered elsewhere

The group 15 in a strong financial posiion o ke
advantage of opportumues for further business growth,
ds and when they anse

Directors and staff

From 1 Apnl 2015 Andrew Wright was appointed as a
main board director After serving on the trading board,
Lathams Limied, for a number of years he has
responsitnbity for product development and bnings
valuable experience of our operauens and markets

Chairman’s Statement

Ihere 13 a dear division of responsibiliiies wich the main
board determining strategy  and exerusing corporate
governance and the trading board of Lathams Imited,
chared by Chns Sutton, scwting and monioning
operations policy Both boards are well balanced in
terms of skills and cxpenence Ther support throughout
the year has been invaluable

While the busingss 15 orgamised to give as much local
autonomy as possible and staff are rargeted at depot
leve], groups of semior staff mect regularly to coordinate
purchasing and sales strategy for the major podua
groups of umber and pancls Group product champrons
lovk after key produdt ranges backed by product
champions at cach depot

This year has been difficult for me personally following
my scrious accident in April 2014 My recovery would
not have been as speedy without the support of my
family and colleagues I would parucularly like o chank
Meryl Bushell, who covered for me as Acting Chairman,
and the rese of the board for their help and support

The company has conunued 10 make progress dunng
the year 1n what remain challenging tracing conditions
We provide a hugh qualiy of customer service as measured
by our rceord fifth consccunive Il award of Limber
Trader of the Year and 1 would like to thank wveryone

in the group for thar individueal contnbuuon

Peter Latham
Chatrman, fames Latham plc

Retor-A el

23 June 2015
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Strategic Report

Introduction

Outline of the Strategic Report
The directors present their strategic ceport for the year ended 31 March 2015
he Strategic Report encompasses the following information

Page
5 James latham ple and Qur Objectives
6 Key Petformance Inchicators

7 Opelating Review

10 Financial Review

12 Principal Risks and Uncortainties
14 Corporate Responsibibiy

The Strategic Report was approved by the board of directors on 23rd June 2015
and signed on 1ts behalf by -

Peter Latham J)&Ed (—&ﬁm'k
David Dunmow QO\M W
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Strategic Report

James Latham plc and Our Objecuves

James Latham plc sets out to be the suppher of choie
throughout the UK for jomnery, door and kuchen
manufacturers, shopfitters and other marker sectors
offenng a wide range of wood bascd pancls, natural
acryhic stone, hardwoods, hugh grade sofiwoods, floonng,
cladding and decking We also supply commodity and
specahst producis o umber and builders merchants
The company mms (0 increase the amount of legal and
sustainable product supplied 1nto s marketplace

The company traces 1t history back o James Latham
who traded 0 exot hardwood 1in Lverpool in 1757
His son had established a business 1n London by 1799
It was taken public in 1965 and the shates ate now quotcd
on the AIM matket Lhe Latham fanuly owns over half
of the company shares and s1x members of the Latham
farmily, now in the 9th gencranon, work in the business

The company believes that o provide the service
demanded, we need o be dost 10 our customers
W ofler nanonal coverage from Coven locations, as shown
in The Latham Group map on page 69 Having stock of
product in the nght place at the nght ume 15 important
to provide this service Commodity imports are held in
ports including Tilbury Twwverpool and Grangemouth

This stock can be dehvered directly to customers for
mulu-pack orders, or transferrcd to the depots for onward
delvery Around London we stock Panel Products and
Nimber Products in separate warchouses whereas a full
range of products arc held in our other locattons around
Great Bnuain We also hold a range of specialist products
in Leeds for nanonal distnbunion and Leeds also offers
an efficent dehivery service to Ireland

Our core values are based on a business structure
that encourages an entreprencurial spint at depoi level
while maintaining central finanaial control and wrading
policy, reaping the benefits of scale from the wze of the
group s acuvities

Llhe company 15 well respected 10 ats industry  and
amongst 1ts customers and supphers for 1s pnncipled
trading policies and 16> ntegriy

The company was voted UK Limber Trader of the Year in
2000, 2002, 2004, 2008, 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013 and 2014
1n 4 vote of readers of the Timber Trades Journal

(

The company’s abjectives are.

* To maximise. shareholder value over the
medm term,

* To grow the business prohtably,

* To maintain 1ts presence in umber based
products but to extend the product range to
the exisung customer base from an cxrended
distnibution neiwork,

\.

\

* To increase sales of third party cerbified sustaiable
umber products

* To provide a safc working cnvironment for
our staff,

e Toimprove service levels by upgrading warchouse
laciliies to speed order picking and to cope with
an extended product range, and

+ 1o employ well-trained, knowlcdgeable and
helpful staff

“Our mission is to continue to deliver improved returns by

supplying quality sustainable products with excellent staff

providing excellent service ”

JAMI S LATHAM PLC ANNUAL REPORT 2015
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Strategic Report

Key Performance Indicators

The group monitors 1ts performance aganst the following Key Performance Indicators that we believe best reflect

our performance and progress In addiuon to the KPI's disclosed below, we have set out on page 15 the non-financial
KPI, monuoring the amount of umber ceruficd as coning from sustainable and well-managed forcsts

Turnover (000 %)

174,855

143.06%
163,117

2013 2014 2015
Turnover up 7 2%

Debtors days
average

2013 2014 2015

This figure 15 adjusted to take

account of customer credit
terms and 1s compared with
our target of 33 days

JAMES LATHAM PLC ANMNUAL RIPORT 2015

Weight of product sold
per working day (tonnes)

=]
o3
(=1

2013 2014 2015

Tonnes per working
day up 4 7%

Stock turn
(tumes)

2013 2014 201s

This figure 1s compared
with our target of 6 7 times
and excludes stock being
processed in kilns

Adjusted carnmings
per share {(pence)

36.9

28.7

2013 2014 201%

Adjusted earnings
per share up 9 2%

Cash (£000's)

11,234
12.501

8.075

2013 2014 2015

Cash balances
up £1,267,000




Strategic Report

Results for the year to 31 March 2015

the UK ecconomy has continued to show the steady
growth started at the cnd of 2013 with demand remaining
good throughout the year Our customers and the
umber trade in general remain opumistc for connnued
stcady growth

Revenue for 2014/15 was 4174 9m, &12m higher than
the previous year, reflecting improving volumes n both
pancls and nmber with some genily increasing prices

The gross margin, the difference between the sales values
and the cost pnices excluding watchouse costs, was 04
percentage potnts up on the previous year Margins on
our spectalised products improved, although conunuing
compeniuve pressure an our markets made margin
improvement 1n other products difficult to achieve

Staff numbcrs have increased this year, mamly in sclling
and warchouse staff We invested in additional sales staff,
with specilic product knowledge and skills in key product
areas, in order  develop the markets for our more
spettalised products, spending an increasing amount of
ame with architects and designers We have also found
this year that average order sies are reducing, with
customers conunuing to demand just in ume supplies
With the increase i business this put pressure on our
vperauons team, and so more depots are introducing
longer shift systems resultng in an increase in manpower
Overhead cost control though has continued to be
important and we continually look 1o improve cfficiency
and producuvity

For management purposes, the group 15 orgamsed inio
one trading division, umber imporung and distnburion,
carried out in each of the eleven locations trading
mainly in the United Kingdom Within this one segment
petformance in terms of 1evenue and trading margin of
the main product types are considered below

Operaung Review

Panel products (wood based sheet materials,
door blanks and natural acrylic stone)

Pancl salcs at £124 9m were 7 3% higher than last year,
with volumes up 4 9% The group s strategy confinues 1o
be ta target markets for decoranve surfaces o include
vencered and metamine panels, laminates and HI-MACS®
natural acrylic stone plus flexible panels We continue to
add new product Iines to our decorative range

These products are of higher vatue and goenerate more
gross profit The decision o hold a strategic supplier
meeting with key panel supphers i spting 2014 has
borne fruits, with all bar one showing significant growth
in the last 12 months

Qur range of hardwood and softwood plywood has
gamned market share based on quality, performance
and cnvironmental crcdentals, attracung new and
regenerating old customers

Turnover of MDF was steady throughout the year
showing a2 small volume increase in a staite market
One encouraging area has been a large increase in sales
of Mudite Iocoya Extreme Durable MDF Development
of added value OSB and us compenuveness versus
plywood has cnabled us to grow sales into meichants
and manufacturers During the year we launched
LuminFirePro, our high qualty fire retardant (FR)
plywood More FR products will be launched in the new
financial year

A strategic PR, adverusing and markenng plan 1s put in
place for each year, covering group and depot acuvittes
A moie coordinated markeung approach saw our name
reach over 4,000,000 readers Each year we target our
depots on therr focus product sales and they achieved
more than &1m oxtrd sales above therr target

Our policy of promoting our range to Architects, Designers
and Specificrs has scen us gain speaficanon for many
products, including Koski Décor Eco, HI-MACS® acrylic
stone surfaces, Moralt doer blanks and Valchromat,
a coloured throughout MDF  New and 1mproved
showrooms displaying our wide range of products
conuinucs o attract cxisting and new customers, plus
trade associauons such as ASDMA and [OM3

The Surface Design Show exhibihon was a success for us
generanng a fot of interest tn new product launches that
included addiions to the Kronospan and Egger surfaces
rangc  Our product specialists converted wterest into
real demand following the show

JAMLS LATHAM PIC ANSUAL RFPORT 2015
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Operaung Review

Our HI-MACS® team was strengthened and now totals
13 people, gving us greater coverage across the UK
and Ireland Sales showed 4 small growth in the year,
but we have 1in place a team to builld on this during the
current year

fhe Advanced Technical Panclsy team 15 the maost
expertenced 1in the marketr, with excellent product
knowledge, offering customers techmical advice and the
widest offering of prefimshed panels Harlequin, a muln-
layered acrylic sheet, afier a slow start, has developed a
small niche market

Sales 1o importcrs, umber and bullders merchants
showed good growth duning the year A wide i1ange of
core fit-for-purpose and added value producis, supphed
ex stock, has enabled our customers 1n this sector o
grow theur sales

During the course of the year, several of our team made
overstds vistts (0 key supplicrs in Indonestd, Malaystd,
Russia, Latvia and Fintand, plus Spain, Belgium and other
Eurapean countties It » imporane that we continue to
develop our relattonships with our supply base

Timber (Hardwood, modified softwood,

Joinery quality softwood, cladding, decking

and hardwood flooring]

Timber sales at £50 Om were 7 3% higher than last year
with volumes 19% higher Joinery, kirchen and shoepfitting
sectors have all provided us with sales and volume growth
OQur core business for Afnican, kuropcan and North
Amencan hardwood was reviewed dunng the year, with
a more strategic product and purchasing policy being put
into place Supply 1ssues in parts of Afica eased leading o
z large infAux of product into the market duning the second
half of the year, which impacted on sates and margins

we continue o develop our range of cerufied Forest
Stewardshup Council (FSC) and Programme for the
Endersement of Forest Certficauon (PEFC) products
Our supplier procurement strategy 1s largely based on the
Timber Trade Federaucn (TTF) Responsible Purchasing
Policy Any supplier who does not meet this cricenia wilk
not be considered Product of Venfied Legal Onigin (VEQ)
15 also purchased

JAMES LATHAM PLC ANMNUAL RFFORT 2013

The WoodEx brand, our own engincered hardwood and
softwood, conunued to make significant inroads into
the jomnery sector Grandis 690+, made of laminated
eucalyptus, was launched 1n the second half of the vear
and sales have been very good  The established range of
Sapele, Redwood and European Oak has also seen good
sales growth

lhe largest giowth arca for oul umbcay busincss has
been in Accoya Modified Wood Very strong sales have
been achieved into the cxterndl joinery scetor Latham
Accoya-Clad has also been speatfied and used on some
presugious contracts

Proti-Deck and Lilecydle wood plasuc composite decking
sales int merchants and te contractors have shown very
good growth Thesc products are considered o be high
quahty and market leading We have redefined our range
of Bausen floonng, removing some hnes of solid flooring
and replacing with new engineered floors including the
Henshaw Range

LDT have made a very useful contnbuuen to
group profits New sales swaff and a restruciunng of
the team has proven w be benefiaal Very strong in
the African and decking scctors, LDT have seen
improvement 1n sales of North Amencan hardwood
IDIl dunng the vear targeted some export markets
and ganed uscful business As part of therr ongomg
development, [DT will look 1o increase their product

offering to the :mporter and merchant sectors
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Strategy for developing the business

Lhe directors recognise that the strength of the group
15 as a distributor of high quality umber and associated
praducts sourced using the TTF RPP from legal and
sustainable sources of supply to existing and new
customer bases Our supply basc has strengthened
dunng the course of the year with many of our partners
agrecing to a 3 year development plan

value added products now account for a significant
proporuon of our sales Fnd user manufacrurers are
tecepuve to new paoducts that may provide them with
solutons or the abiliy o develop their own customer
offering Development of our product offering s key
to our future success The introduction of Xylocleaf,
a mgh defimtion melamine panel for shopfitung,
futniture  kitchens and hediooms, plus Kydex a
thermoformable plastic product for shopfitung, doors
and the transport sector, give our customers new and
innovatve products

Qur core commodity range of pancls and umber s
constantly reviewed with new hnes being stocked if we
believe they will meet our customer’s requirements
Qur Leeds depot acts as a central warchousc for a large
range of Fgger and Kronospan laminates, totalling nearly
400 decors  These are available on & nanonal basis for
next day delivery 1o our customer base We will continue
to develop our laminate offering during the year

We will conunue o look to develop new markets,
including heland and other export markers We will also
continue 10 1nvest 1in our depois, with advanced plans
drawn up for relocaung our Yate and Wigston depots
over the next two years, as well as improvements to
racking systems in our Thurrock, Hemel Hempstead
and Purfleet depots We will also consider acquisiuions
where opportumues arise, to enhance our produci
range or geographical coverage

The group has invested 1n staft traimng with our
aim being to have the best sales and technical team
in the industry Markeung of ow products through
brochures, direct adverusing, public relauens, social
media and exhibiuons 15 key to our success In the
latier part of last ycar we re launched our website
www lathamumber co uk Workang with our staff and
supplicrs we aim to offer our cxisting and potennal
customer base a first ¢lass service of fit for purpose, legal
and sustainahle products

Operaung Review

Market place
The group's busingss 1s widely spread throughout many
sectors of the UK economy

Market sector Customer group Lathams
sales value %

2015 | 2014

Construcuon/housing Merchants 17 17
Jowners 22 21

Builders 5 5

Kithen manufacturess 4 4

Door manufacturers 3 3

Retal Shopfittets 5 6
Lamuinators/Yeneerers 5 5

Furnituie manufacturers 8 9

Transport Vehicle bullders 2 A
Exhibuteons Exhubitton fitters 3 3
Cash sales 7 7
Other importers 10 10
Other sectors 9 8
TOTAL 160 100

Fnd products are used in both the public and private
sectors Qur top ten customers account for 11% of sales
and our top 25 customers represent 17% of sales

JAMLS LATHAM PLC ANNUAL REFORI 2015
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Strategic Report

Financial Review

Introduction

This report provides a commentary on how the group
has performed against the financial objecuves during
this year, together with a review of us financial nsks
I believe we met our financial objecuves for this year,
enhancing our position i the market and mamtaining
a strong balance sheet

Financial objectives

lhe board of dicctots remain commutred 1o the long
term mmprovement m sharcholder value, which we
believe we can achicve by

¢ Improving profitability by maximusing gross maigins

* Increasing group market share through umproving
facihues at our exisung depots

¢ ldenofying expansion and dcquisiion opportumities,
wheore the return on caputal 1s at least cqual 1o that of
the exisung group

* Controlling cashflows to maximise cash available for
the bustness and sharcholders

¢ Identifying and managing nsks, with parucular
emphasts on the pension scheme liability

* Maintaining dwadend cover at between 2 $ umes and
4 times earnings

Finanaal review

A commeniary on the group's trading results 1s set
out in the Operating Review on pages 7-9, and the key
figuies are conwidered below, with emphavws on the
financial figures

Operating profit

Revenues increased by 7 2% to £1749m A key focus
of the board throughout this ycar has been managing
margins to endble us 1o remain competitive i commodity
products but grow margins in vur focus products Gross
profit improved shightly to 17 7% trom 17 4%, reflecting
thus although we have seen increases 1n our warehouse
cosis per tonne of product delivered Increases in
volumes through the warchouse, reduced order values
ant more demanding lead umes from our customers,
have resulted in higher warchouse costs Two of our
depots have moved to 24 hour working and others
introduced longer shifts as we aim t0 mawmntain service
levels in the most efficient manner

JAMES LATHAM PIC ANNUAL RFPORT 2015

Sclling and distnbution costs increased by 8 8%
lhese costs include the direct cost of transport
We monitor transport costs by roviewing costs per
tonne of pruduct delivered, and dunng this year the
ost per tonne tnercased by 47% over last year,
desprte the reducnon in fucd prices Whalst the costs
of running our own flcet of vehicles reduced this year,
costs of hauliers have increased Increased sales staft, in
both specialised product arcas and trainees, are expected
to produwee improved revenues and profits in the years
o come

Costs in each locanon are monirored closely by the board
through the quarterly board meeungs at each depot

Operating profi, excluding the excepuonal pension
credit last year, increased 11 4% to £106m Group nct
profit before taxauon, excluding the excepuonal pension
credit last year, incicased to £10 1m from $8 7m last year

The taxauon charge of £23m 1epiesents an effecuve
ratc of 22 6%, compared with 18 0% last ycar, which
benefited from a onc-off defened tax credit 1he group’s
profits arnse whollv in the UK and the group’s tax chaige
will reflect the UK corporation tax rate

Pension scheme

Al 31 March 2015 the deficit of the defined benefit scheme
under Imernational Finanaal Reperung Standards was
%10 4m compared wath 19 3m last year Discount ratcs,
represented by yields on corporate bonds, conunue ©
fall, reducing from 4 5% to 3 2% dunng this year, which
on us own added over £11m to the habthues Investment
returns outperformed the actuaral expectations, and
there were benefits o changes n some demographic

Gross IAS19 deficit £000's

2011 2012 2013 W04 2015




Strategic Report

assumptions In note 18 2 to the accounts, we have
provided some scnsitivity analysis around the vanous
assumptions used o illustrate this volatlity

Thuis yedr, the triennial valudaoon to 31 March 2014 was
completed This resulted 1n a much reduced defiont
of £1 5m A decficit recovery plan was agreed with the
pension scheme trustees 10 pdy &1 1m in the year 10
31 March 2015 with a4 further YW 4m in the year to
31 March 2016

The group 15 constantly assessing the risks in the pension
scheme, and this year has maintained a cap on pensionable
salary increases to a maximum of 1% over CPE

Cash flow and working capital

At the end of the year cash balances of %12 5m were
held, up from £11 2m last year The cash 15 being held as
shont term deposits providing funds for short term
workang capial fluctuavons and aflowing us o make
capuial investments when oppotunines arse The lowest
amount of cash held duiing the year was £59m  Part of
this cash will be also uscd to finance the relocauons
of Yate and Wigston duning the next two years Interest
vates have remained at record lows throughout the year
s0 we hdve continued 1o use vur cash o obrdin cash
scttfement erms with most of our major supphicrs
allowing us to earn &864,000 of discounts receved
compared with £746,000 last year

Fhe wumber mmporung and distnbuuon business
requires considerable working capital investment 1n
stock and debtors

Control of cash flow from customers 1s closely monitored
The key performance indicator of debtors days, taking
into account our credit terms, has moved from 52 6 days
10 52 4 days Bad debts thus year, despue the difficult first
quarter, ended up at 0 15% of wrnover against a budget
of 0 4%, and last year of 0 11% I am very grateful for the
work our excellent credit control team have done this
year 1n getung right the difficult balance of dealing with
our customers, deahng with our depots and collecung our
debts Al the year end the amount of outstanding debt
being dealt with by our sohciters was at an all ume low

Financial Review

I'he company policy 1s that all customers with outstanding
batances cxcceding 940,000 are covered by credn
insurance policies Where credit insurance 15 unavalable,
4 sub-coemmutice of the board review finanual reports 1o
approve new credi imits The amount of debtors over
440,000 covered by credit tnsurance has improved o
95% from 90% last year

Stock turnover targets are set and moniored on a
monthly basis, and senior management has access o
real ume stock levels Stock wien 1s 6 2 umes compared
with 6 6 umes last year Whilst stockturn has improved
on somc of our speciabist products, we suffered from
some erranc shipments of commoduy product in the final
quarter of the year, resuling in some over stocking which
we are currently working through

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

- /

JAMES LATHAM PLC ANNUAL REPORT 2015

11



12

Strategic Report

Financial Review

Capital investment

During the year, we invesied £0 4m into new fixed asscis
We now own all our lornes and mechanical plant and
this year have bencfitted from the ability to run this
cquipmenti on for fonger than we would previcusly have
done under lcasing arrangements We expect that next
years capital expenditure on lornies and plant will return
10 normal levels, as older equipment 1s replaced

Ner assets at the year end were £62 2m (2014 £58 1m)
The group s adjusted pre tax rcturn on capital for the
year was 16 6% (2014 15 8%), which continues to be
above our weighted average cost of capital

Financial risk management

In the course of our business, the group 15 exposed
to cutrency nsk, interest rate 1sk, hguidity nisk and
acdit sk The overall aim of the group’s financial risk
management strategy 1s to rutigate any poitenual negatve
cffects on the group’s assets and profitability 1he group
manages these nsks tn accordance with group policies,
and does not take spuiulaiive posions

As the group trades predominantly in the UK, the market
price ot our products tends 1o fluctuaie in hine with
currency spot prices Speculative posilions on currencics
are noi entered into Comparing against spot prices, we
had a posiuve tracking errar of kess than 0 1% dunng thus
ycar Qur LDT dvision can have stock tied up in kilns
for six to mine months, and we enicr into currency swaps
10 ensure that this stock 1s costed at spot price when it
becomes available for sale

The cash deposits and available bank fachues reduce our
liquidity nsk Cash flow forecasts are momiored aganst
actual cash flows 10 ensure that adequate faciines are
mantaned (0 meet the future needs of the business
The board reviews re-forecasted profits and cash flows on
4 quarterly basis The bank loan was taken out at a fixed
rate of interest in order o reduce the interest rate nsk

insurance products and external credut reference agencies
help reduce our ciedi nsk

1he Audit Committee reviews the group's risk register ds
part of 1ts regular m

OTINgG Process

David Dunmow Finance Dirccior

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The group operates in a market and an industry which by their nawre are subject to a number of inherent nisks
We attempt to control these nsks by adopung appropriate strategies and maintaining strong systems of internal
control  These strategres however do not atempt o ¢himinate nsk, but contral the nsks that we bhelieve arc

appropriate 1o ke o generate accepiable shareholder retuins Details of the group's risk management processes are

given in the Corporate Governance report on page 17

We have considered opposite the current nisk factors that are considered by the board to be matenal However, in a
changing world, new nsks may appear or immaterial nisks may become more important, and the directors will develop

appropriatc stratcgics as these risks appear

JAMEFS LATHAM PIC ANNUAL REPORT 2015
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Risk Descripti Risk Mitigation

could result 1n
shortages of

Market The group’s sales are predommantly UK based so The distnbution of our Lustomers across the UK economuc secrers helps
Conditions 1t 15 exposed to any slowdonn in the UK economy reduce the impact of slowdown 10 any aone sectar Regular financial enformanon
Negarive or uncertan economie condwions could hedps the board assess current e mds
affect our customers business resulung in them
reducing perchases from our group
Competition Competitive pressures from existing husinesses An assussment of the market and competitor actvity ts discussed at cach
from new and new entrants to the market could reduce depot's quaneely board meeting s includes an assessment of our routes
and existing pnces margins and profitability 1o marker as challunges 1o our depot structure and operatons cmerge and
businesscs dvsessment of our pricng sirategies
[nventory Proxluct shorages can lead 1o high pnces and To maugate this nsk, the group has a stnct policy of stock level tgets by depot
levels move vver purchasing throughout the trade, resulung These art monuiored monthly by the board which centrlly controels the purchase
out of line In L csave sk holding W aaker prces ead of stocks and takes 2 group view on the action to be taken to hmit the group s
with sales to stonk reduction throughout the supph chamn, exposure o rapudly changing pnce levels Live stock [evel reporss and predicine
requirements wiuch magmifies the 1educuon in demand and tools are availible for our managers to monitor current and future levels
::;1 :sl arket ;:?:r;t:{: :_(;: :_t?:l? ?;zf:,i?;llf,:as; l:; d‘;rl:z[rltiges The group s reduced rehance on commodity 1tems has reduced this risk of
n specific speaal products over exposure 1o low value high volume and price sensitve stems, although
1> an important area for us, this rsk <annot be completeh removed
The market for certain producr lines changes, The beard has set sinct guidelines relaong to purchases where the
resulung in them becoming overvalued and fios " omcr. and has noldios m Pl 1o
Jow movig spetiBeRton o UL o 4 particular oo LT, s policies i p
ensure that ne individual can commut the group wr a purchase greater than
hissher authonsed fimu
Slow mowving stocks are monitored tegulaily and action taken to nutigate the nsk
Supplier Although far more of the group s purchases now oy mitigate. the 7k from those prossures, the groups dealings are sproad
polstical risks come from kurope and North Amenca it has datoss 4 lige number of countries of supply  1he group keeps inturmed of
or failure aignificant dealings with countries where the developments in higher risk preducet countites through involvement in wotk

pohitecat chmare e less stable, roselieng 1n g strategic
threas to the supply of product e the group

by the Royal Insutute of Intermational Affairs (Chatham House)

We mantam clost relationships with ow supphers to ensure chat we are

product The group 15 teliant on certain supplhers fon certam pre warned of difficulues of supply We maimiain relanonships wath supplicrs
product ranges and ther tnability (o meet our of alturnatve products
demand due to financial o1 production difficulties
could result in stock shortages
Reputational COver many years the group has built up a reputauon | Policies are in place which cover standards of behaviour and good governance
Risk for integrity and responsible trading and 1» On the purchasng side the group has a strong nsk based responsible

awdre thit this can be easily damaged with the
vonseeucnual cost o the Lactham brand

purchasing polcy managcd by our | nvronmental Managor wo minimise pesathle
damage i reputation and kegal nsk from dealing i diegal products

Defined Benefit
pension scheme
funding could
increase

The group 15 required by law to maintain a
menimum funding level in relaton to s obligattons
to provide pensions 1o members of the pension
scheme Fhis level of funding 15 dependent on

a senes of external factors, such as investment
performance, kife expevtancy and gil vields
Significant changes in these areas can abso have

a significane effect on the funding levels The
sensiivity of the funding level 1o these factors 1s
disclosed 1z note 18 2 in the notes ro the z2ccounts

The scheme has been closed to new entrants for many years The board
regularly reviews the investment strategy and performance of the peasion
scheme. mvestments, and has sct a cap on punsionable satanes of 1% above CPL

Information
techneclogy
farlures umpact
our aliry to
trade

The oprauons of the group depend o a large
cxtent on the avalability 2nd 1ehability of ow
informarion technology systems A faitwie

of systems, either of hardware, software. or
communicatans, for an extended penod of nme
could impact our abilicy to rade

Qur main computer servers are located in a secure sie away from the trading
operauions hosted in an external data centre The systems are monitored 24
hours a day and mantenance work carned out on 4n ongoing basis

Back ups are held offsite, and shortly a system will be introduced to mirror our
systems in a separate data centre to provide exeea resilience

Software maintenance contracts ensure that our busmess cnucal sofiware 15 up
1o date, allowing sofiware problems 1o be resolved quickh

Inahlity to
trade from a
depot

Lnabihts (o 1rade from a depot due to an incident
intermally or externally, could cause loss of revenue
and profity

Disaster recovery plans are 1n place at group and depot levels These are
reviewed by the Audit Commttee and the board  as well as distussed ar depot
level Insurance policies are in place e cover increased cost of working

Our distribution network, 4s well as cur nventones held ar vanouws ports, allow
us tO Man4ge customers requirements from a different location
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Corporate Responsibility

At James Latham ple, we are conscious of our corporate
responsibilities to all our stakeholders and to society as
a whole Health and safety, environmental mactters, staff
tramning and equal opportumues are key arcas relevant
to the group’s business We also maintain contact with
and support both the local and the wider community
A substannal amount of management ume 15 devoted
to Corporate Social Responsibility 1ssues, as we beheve
that these enhance our standing with customers and
supplers w the benefit of all stakeholders

Health and Safety - Providing a safe working
environment

Ilhe handling of nmber and pancl products, both
manually and mechanically, and the stacking and storage
of these produdts at height, <an bo dangerous activities
We dre vory dotive tn assessing and munimsing the oisks
i all areas of the business and educaung the workforce
o provide as safe a working environment as possible
for all pcople that come into contact with James Latham
pl. We spend an increasing amount of ume and money
on this acuvity We employ a fulk-ume Health and Safery
Advisor who reports to the board regularly, artends board
meetings twice a year and chairs regular health and safery
meeungs at 4l depots We have a 3-year actnon plan
and 4ll sies are subject to regular audis Management
and employees are acuvely involved i improving our
safety record, which 15 high on everyone's agenda
All employees take a personal responsibility for making
sure therr actions and behaviour mamtan safecy for all

[n addition, we recognise that safety extends beyond
our warehouses We regularly monuor vehucle accidents
in our lornes and company cars 0 assess whether
further taming » requued We operaie a programme
of lorry duver mentonng and aie nboducing the FORS
(Fleet Operator Recogmtion Scheme) Our lortes all
have tracking devices ficced which provide aterts and
informauon on speed as well as the route taken We arc
introducing a system of cameras installed in cach lorry to
not only provide retrospective footage for traimng and
insurance pueposes, but alsu 1o provide improved rear
and sicde visibility to our drivers

JAMES LATHAM PLC ANNDAL RLPORT 2015

Environmental

1he directors of James Latham ple recognise that the
company has a responsibility to the environment,
customers, suppliers, shareholders and staff to base 1s
commercial acpvines on well-managed foresis and to
ruduce dny negative cnvironmental smpdct of iis trading
4s far as 15 reasenably practical

With best pracuces observed, umber products are the
ultimate sustainable and recyclable materals, requinng
low energv 10 process and being thermally efficeni in
usc Timber from well-managed forests absorbs carbon
in growing and locks 1n carbon in use It 15 sustainable,
producing a rcgular crop and puts value into glowing
forests so hedping w reduce land clearance for other uses

A hfecycle assessment study published by Wood for
Good, showed that umber has the lowest embodied
carbon impact of any mainstream building materal
It shows that all umber producis are n fact carbon
ncganve at the point of delivery, e the amount of
carbon dioxide absorbed by the wee by photosynthesis
durtng growth, s greater than all the emissions
assouated with harvesung, processing, manufacture,

transport and installauon

Iimber from poorly managed forests destroys biodiver-
sity, leads to sl crosion and damages walercourses
1t ruins the hfestyle of tradinonal forest dwellers Torest
buining adds to carbon ¢mission and harms an quality
in the region Purchasing from those involved 1n corrupt
pracuces undermines natonal governance

It 1s therefore essenual that we ensure our umber
15 legally harvested and comes trom well managed
lhe group recognises that the independent
ceraficauon of forests and of the supply chdin 15 the

forests

best means of providing assurance that umber comes
from legal and well managed forests Where possible 1t
purchases matenal cerufied by the Programme for the
Endonement of Forest Cortfication schemes (PEFCY
or the Forest Stewardship Council (FSC) As well as
providing asswiances on the umber itself, these schemes
also provide checks on the welfare of the forest workers
and indigenous population

[he group has third party audited chain of custody for
umber supplicd as certified by PEFC, FSC oand other
schemes  Lhis 18 to cnsure that clams madc about

ceruficauon can be proved
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The group has signed up to the WWF UK ‘Forest
Campaign’ commiung to purchasing only cerufied
legal and sustainable timber products by 2020 and w
publically showimg progress tawards this target We jointly
sponsorcd WWF s Forest Recepuon o promote this
scheme at the House of Commons in March 2015

In some paris of the world, umber ccruficd by one
of the internavonally recognised schemes 15 not
available The group 15 commitied to purchasing all
umber from lcgal sources and to scck confirmaton
ftom suppliers that they ate operaung in dccordance
with the laws of therr country Where the nsk of
corruption or illegal logging 1s high, we seek third party
audited proof of legality

The group scts targets cach year o increase the amount
of umber and umber based products that are cerufied by
recognised international orgamsauons such as PEFC and
FSC as comung from sustainable and well managed forests

The figures for the relevant calendar years are given below

FSC PETC | 3rd party
venfied legal | Negligible

Panels | 2013 | 71% 17% 3% 9%
2014 69% 20% 4% 7%

Timber | 2013 | 36% 18% 35% 11%
2014 | 40% 16% 33% 11%

TOTAL | 2015 66% 20% .
target

The European Nmber Regulanon (EUTR), which came
mte force in March 2013, places an obligatton on the
first placer of umber on the European market 1o ensure
that the uamber has been legally sourced and traded, to
operate a risk assessment process and 10 ke miigaung
measures (o minimise the ask of illegality We have a
rigorous system for assessing our supply chains and are
comrutted w0 only purchasing product with neghgible
nisk status We will not trade 1n umber species prohubited
under Appendix 1 of CITFS legislauon and obtain the
appropnate documents for the very himited trade we do
n all other CITES histed umber species

Corporate Responsibility

For a number of ycars the company has had sk
assessment tools in place o monitor supphers through
the Nimber Trade Federauon Responsible Purchasing
Policy and Code of Conduct The risk assessment seeks
to provide the clearest practicable information regarding
the sources of raw material used in the manufacturc
of wood products We have supported the Nauonal
Measurement  Office, the UK competent authonty
charged with enforcement of the EUTR, in seaff raining
by giving them access to our duc diigence system and
having mcetings with representatives of other European
agencies to shdre our experiences

We publish our commitment to the environment
regularly in our product guide, speaific liecrature and on
our website, www lathamumber co uk We gwe clear
gurdance 10 our customers about the importance of
buying umber that can be demaonstrated o be legal and
trom well-managed forests This s a condinon of contract
to supply the UK Government and many environmentally
dwdre customers  Company staff give presentations
cusiomer trade as5001a10ns and At CUSIOMET Premiscs

Informing suppliers and supporting certification

Our sentor staff have spoken about the importance of
independent ceruficanon of forestss and supply chamns
at EU and UK conferences for groups of supphers n
Ghana Camcroon, Congo Brassaville, Gabon, Peninsular
Mulaysta, Sarawak, Sabah and China Companv buyers
have visited individual supplicrs in Europe, Russia Chind,
Indonesia, Malaysia, the Unued $tates, Uruguay, Brazl
and Argentina giving the same message Group buyen
have visited indvidual supphers audiung the source of
lngs The group has heen helping promote the EU Forest
Law Enforcement, Governance and Trade Iniuatve to
prevent illegal logging by giving press and film interviews
and spuaking ai the FIFGI review mectng in Brusscls

The group has supported and funded supphers in Africa
and China working under the EL funded Timber rade
Actuon Blan which s a step-by-step approach wwards
certfication Our Charman coninbutes 4 considerable
amount of his own ume too as a direcior of the
PEFC !ntcrnauonal Board, the Iimber Trade Federation
environmental commuttee and o promoung PEFC and
FSC ceruficd products with chain of custody ceriification

JAMES LATHAM PLC ANNUAL REPORT 2015
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Corporate Responsibility

Local environmental issues

Woe o also reeognize  that  alongside  our umber
covironmental policy, we have a responsiliey to
minmmise our local environment footpnnt We have
developed an environmental managemoent  svsicm
which 15 accredited under 1S014001  This commis us
to considenng cnergy efficent opuons for hghung,
heaung and venulaton hefore making purchasing
decisions Vehidle procurement consideranons include
reduction of cmissions and improved fuct efficiency

The company sceks © mnimise the use of packaging
matenal and to rcevcle discarded packaging marteral
dnd paper where it ts practicable 1o do so, to avord these
matenals entening landfill

We give support, both 1n saff ome and financaally 1o
cammuruty projects lacal to cur depots through schools,
sports teams and chanues We also have entered o
a three year agreement to give financial support 1o the
Nauonal Forest project

Our employees

Lhe group’s ability 10 achicve 1ts commuauicial objectives
and 1o scrve the neods of 1ts customers 1in a profitable
and competiive manner depends on the contribution
of s employces Employees are encouraged 1o develop
their coninbution 1o the business wherever they
happen to work The group regularly kecps employees
up to datwe with financial and other information
Quarterly meeungs are held in each Iacauon, chawred hy
4 buard mumber, where employecs' views concerning
the performance of their profit centre are considered
To encourage the involvement of employecs in the
group’s performance, share opuon schemes are
operated togcther with bonuses linked o performance

The group’s employment polcies do not discnmnate
hetween employeces, or potential employces, on the
grounds of age, gender, disability, sexual vnientation,
colour, ethnic ongin or rchigious belief The sole cnienon
for selecuon or promotion 1s the swability of any
apphcant for the job The group s pay policy 15 to ensure
that every employce, other than trainecs, dare pard the
Living Wage
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It 15 the policy of the group to tran and develop
employees to ensure that they are equipped to undertake
the tasks tor which they are employed, and 1o provide the
opporwnity for carecr devclopment equally and without
discriminatton  Tramung and development s provided
and o avallable to all levels and categones of staff
Inicrndl Lourses are run on the tehmcal aspects of our
products, along side gencral management, sales and
presentanen skills courses

We have a successful program of introducing trainees
from sthool or college All doepots cither have trainees or
have plans in place to recrunt dunng the ycar Tramnces
are put through external courses obtaming qualfications,
including NVQs in Sales and Warchousing and the
Wood Society exams covering the properues and uses ol
umber and panel products {his year Carley Willams and
Dan Mahoney, fom ow Thuirock depot, were tunnors
up in the Timber Trades Journal Carcer Development
Award, open to trainees under 25 throughout the timber
wade Jacob Sheen from our leeds branch, was also
nomimnated I'his 1 the fourth year 1in a 1ow that our
trainecs have been nominated for this award

In the current financal year we are planning again o
sponsor 4 James Latham Timber Engineenng Scholar
through an MSc Limber Tngincering program  at
Edinburgh Napier University

Details of the number of employces and their related
conts can he found 1in note 4 1o the accounts

The e-Tree Initiative

James Latham plc has signed up to the e-Tree muauve
organised by our registrars Computershare o Tree 1M
15 a programme designed to help companies promote
eCommunicaions © their shareholders, whilst also
allowing them o make a valuable contnbuuon 0
the environment

As a sharcholder in James Latham plc, whenever you
opt 1n to receve your designated commumcatons
onhne, e¢Tree will make 2 donation o the Woodland
Trust Se we are doing our bi, while you are making
your hfe casier

To 1egister please visit www etreeuk com/jameslatham
You will need your sharcholder number, which s
contauned etther on your share. ceruficate or on your
latest dividend voucher

Pleasc help us to reduce costs and support a very
worthwhile cause




Corporate Governance

The directors believe that good corporate governance,
involving risk apprasal and management, prudent
decision making, open communicanon and business
cfficiency, s 1important for the long term bendfit of the
stakcholders 1 our group This year we have agreed
to comply with the 12 principles contained within the
Quoted Companies Alllance Corperate Governance
Code tor Small and Mid-Sire Quoted Companies 2013,
and will show below how we have applied this code

The Board of Directors

The company 15 governed by a board of directors
consisting of the Chanman, Peter Latham, four other
executive direciots and two non-executive dnectols
Andrew Wright became a fifth execuuve dircctor on
1 Apnl 2015 Fach director has a vote and no individual
or small group of individuals dominates the board’s
deasion making  Berween Apnl and August 2014,
following Peter lLatham’s absence trom the busincss,
Meryl Bushell took over as actung Chairman

The board has a formal schedule of matters referred
o it for dectsion, with at least one specific strategy
meeting being held each year Agendas and board packs
are discussed and circulared 1n advance of the meeungs
to ensure that all directors have adequate ume to
research and take part in discussions on the key 1ssues,
as well as giving the non-execuuve directors tume o
add matters of their parucular interest to the agenda
In the year 1o 31 March 2015 the board met five umoes,
with all dircctors attending cach meeung other than
Peter Latham, who missed two mectings through illness

The board 1s responsible for group strategy, corpordte
responsibility  including  health and  safety and
cnvironmental 1ssues, acquisition policy, bribery policy,
approval of major capual expenditure and menitoring
the key operanional and financial nisks 1t also reviews
the stratcgy and budgets for the trading subsiharies
and monitors the progress towards their long term
objecuves All directors have access to the company
secretary or to independent professional advice, of
required, at the companys expense New directors
receve training from the company NOMAD on ther
responsthihties under the AIM rules

Corporate Governance Report

In addinon to the scheduled mecungs, the non-
executives attended the group annual operauonal
budger and strategy meeting, as well as making
individual visus to operaucndl sites Key financial
informanon is circulaied to dircctors on a monthly basis
outside of the board mecuings

The hoard has deaded that the directors waill retne by
rotation and the exceuuve dircctors will be re-elected
at least every three years The board regularlv reviews
the skills and expenience of the directors and assesses
the cffectivencess of individual directetrs and the board
as a whole

The Audit Committee

The Audit Commuittee 15 chaired by Pippa Latham
and includes Meryl Bushell and Nick Latham  Dawd
Dunmow also attends the meenngs of the commitice
The committee mecets at least three umes a year o
1eview internal convols within the group The duties of
the audit commuttee nddude, on behdlf of the board, a
review of effecuveness of the group's financal reporting
and 1nternal control policies, and procedures for the
idenufication, assessment and reporung of nisk

It also keeps under review the scope and results
of the external audu, s cost effecavencss and the
independence and objecuvity of the external audior,
including recommending their reappointment  to
the board This includes a review of the non-audit
work performed to ensure that such work would not
impau their independence or objecuvity 1in carrying out
the audit

T'he audit commuitee recerves a report from the external
auditor following the annual avdit which provides details
of the significant financial reporung esumates and
judgements made during the preparauon of the group’s
annual accounts No matters of matenal sigruficance were
denufied by the external auditors duning the course of
the audit

Cnce a year the auditor meets with the non-executive
directors only

T'he Remuneration and Nominations Commuttee report
1s contained on page 20
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Financial reporting

The directors have 2 commitment 1o best practice in the
group s external financial reporung in order to present a
balanced and comprehensible assessment of the group’s
financial position and prospects o 1s shatcholders,
employecs, customers, suppliers and other thard partics
rhis commtment encompasscs alt published information
ncluding but not hmited 1o the year end and half yearly
accounts, regulatory news announcemcents and other
public information

Internal controls

The board has established systems of internal controi
ay appropriate for the size of the group The day o day
operation of the system of internal contro! 15 under the
control of executuve dircctors and semor management
The system 1~ designed to manage rather than elinunate
risk Any system of internal control can however only
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement and loss No matenial breaches of
internal controls were reported duning the year

Risk assessment

Procedures for wdenafying, quanufying and managing
the risks, financial or otherwise, faced by the group
have been in place throughout the year under review
The processcs for idennfying and managing the key
risks to the business are commumcated regularly to
all saff, who ate made awaire of the areas for which
they arc responsible Such processes include strategse
planning, maintenance and review of a nsk register,
the appoitment of approprately qualified staff, regular
reporting and monworing of performance against
budgets and other perdformance targets, and ellecuve
control over capital expenditure
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Whistleblowing

The, group has established procedures whereby employees
of the group may, m confidence, raise concerns relating (o
mutters of potenual fraud or other impropnicues These
procedures also cover other ssucs affecung employees
including health and salcty 1ssues The audii commitiee
15 confident that these ‘whistlcblowing' arrangements
are samsfactory and will enable the proporuonate and
independent investigation of such matters and appropnate
follow-up acuon to be taken

Review of effectiveness of financial controls
The directors confirm that they have reviewed the
effectivencss of the system of internal control for
the year under review and to the date of approval of the
Annual Report and Accounts through the monitoring
process described ahove

Relations with shareholders

lhe company 1s committed t© mantaning good
sharcholders  with  any
published financial statements and Stock Exchange

commumications  with

announcements also posted on to our nvestors
website, www lathams co uk
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Directors’ biographies

Peter Latham OBE BA FIMMM Chairman

Peter Latham, age 64, has worked in the company
for 42 years and was appointed to the board in 1983
He 5 a director of Lathamis Limued and provides
advice 1 the Audig and Remunerauon and
Nominanons Committees He s a director of the
Programme  for the Fndorsement of  Forest
Certification schemes (PEICY Internauonal board,
an independent non governmental organisation,
which hdas ceruficd the largest arca of world
forests He 15 a member and past chairman of the
industry's environment committee, Forests Forever
and a Trusiee of the Commonwealth Foresiry
Association He 1s a past pressdent of the Insutute of
Wood Saience and of the High Wycombe Furnire
Manufaciurers Society

Dawvid Dunmow BSc FCA Frnance Drector

and Comparny Secrelary

David Dunmow, age 51, has worked in the company
for 21 years and was appomnted o the board as
Finance Director n 2000 He 15 a  Fellow of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales He s a director of Lathams Limited and
provides advice to the Audit and Remuneration
Commuttees He 1» a former treasurer of the Timber
Trade Federation

Chris Sutton Executne Director

Chris Sutton, age 56, has worked 0 the company for
37 years and was appuinted to the buard in 2005
He v Chatrman of Lathams Limited He 1 a former
director of the Timber [rade Federanon

Nick Latham BSc Executire Director

Nick Latham, age 47, has worked n the companv
for 24 vears and was appomnted to the board
n 2007 He s a diector of Lathams Limied and
member of the Avdu Commuuee He sits on the
advisory committee of the Timber Research and
Development Association

Directors and Advisors

Piers Latham BSc Evecufive Director

Picrs Latham  age 44, has worked mothe company
for 22 yuars and was appuinted to the boand i 2014
He 1 a dircctor of Lathams Limsted and Chairman of
the Trustees of the James Latham plc Punsion and
Assuranee Scheme He s also Chairman of the Woaod
Indusicy Board and a Trustee of ProSkills UK, an
orgamisation promotmg the develepment of mdustral
skills and apprenuceships

Andrew Wright Execufive Direcior

Andrew Wnght, age 50, has worked in the company
for 14 years and was appointed to the board in 2015
He ts a director of Lathams Limuted and s 2 board
membecr of the North West Timber Trade Association

Pippa Latham MA MBA ACIS FCMA CGMA

Nomn Eaxecunive Direclor

Pippa Latham, age 54, joncd the company in 1990
from 4 ptevious career 1 investment banking and
management consulting She was Company Secretary
from 1994 to 2005 and was appomted o the board as
a non-executive director in 2005 She chais the Audit
Commutee and v 4 member of the Rumenernion
and Numunauions Committee She s an investment
manager for the Timber Trades Benevolent Soaety
and pnncepal of Pippa Latham Associates, company
secretary and corporate governance consultants She
15 a non-xecutne director for W Lucy and Co Limuted

Meryl Bushell BA MSc FCIPS

Non Executive Divector

Meryl Bushell, age 60, sas zppointed 4 non-executive
directorin 2008 She has mam years seror management
wpenenee with Bl incduding soveral years 4 Chicf
Procurement Officer fur the B Group She chairs the
Rumunerauon and Numinduens Committee, and 1 2
member of the Audit Commutee She 15 a previous
member of the Board of Managemeni of the Charnered
Insuiwee of Purchasing and Supply and a previous
director of Invest in Gatewav London Limited, South
London Healthcare NHS Trust and of SupplierForce

Registrars
Cumputershare Investor
Services ple

The Pavthons
Bndgwater Rozd

KBrstol BS13 818

Bankers

Royal Bank of Scotland
Mazjor Corporate Banking
280 Bishopsgate

London EC2M 4RB

Clydesdale Bank
St Albans Financial
Solutions Centre
Verulam Paint

4th Floor

Station Way

St Albans ALY SHI

Stockbrokers and
Nominated Adviser
Northland Capital Partners
131 Finsbury Pavement
London ECIA INT

Pension Advisor
Mercer

Tower Place West
Eondon EC3R 5BU

Independent Auditor
Baker Tilly UK Audut [IP
25 Larringdon Sireet
London [ C4A 4AB

Registered Office
James Latham ple
Lt 3 Swallow Pack
Finway Road

Hemel Hempstexd
Herts HPZ 7QU

Regestered Numbcer 65619
Regestered ine Fugland
and Walcs
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Drirectors Remuneratuon Report

{his report has been compiled by the company's
Remuneraton and Nominanons Commutiee and scts out
the company’s remuncranon policies for its key directors

Remuneration and Nominations Committee
During the vear ended 31 March 2015, the Remunerauon
and Nominauons Commitice comprised (wo non-
executive directors, Mcryl Bushell as chairman and
Pippa Latham Fhe mecungs were attended by Peter
Latham and Dawvid Dunmow to provide information to
the Commuittee when required

The main funcuon of the Commuttee 15 to make
recommendations 1o the board regarding the group’s
policy on the remuncraton and conditions of
employment of the execuuve directors of the group,
and, where approprnate, semor management, and
includes considering nominatons to the board Over the
course of the year the commuttee has also taken an acuve
interest 1n talene development, succession planning and

group diversity

Thiy year the Commuttee recommended to the hoaid
that Andiew Wiight be appownted an execunve ditector
on 1 Apnil 2015 Andrew 15 cuirently responsible fot
the group’s northern depots in Leeds, Gateshead and
Scotland He also has responsibihity for idenufying,
assessing and introducing new product ranges into the
group’s portfoho of products Andrews' skills enhance
the bodrd, and his appuintment forms part of vur long
twrm suceession plans

The Committee has access to professional remuncration
advice trom outside of the company

Remuneration Policy

The remuneranion policy aims to ensure that executve
directors are farly rewarded for their indmidual
contributions to the performance of the group, with due
regard for the interests of shareholders

The remuneration package consists of basic salary,
benefits (compnsing car and private medical provision),
pensions, annual bonus schemes share opuon schemes
and life assurance cover of 4 times gross salary

Pay rises are considered once a vedr, to apply from
1 December  Pay tists are based on cost of hving
mncreases plus awards for promounon where relevant
1he execunve directors have their pay nscs based on the

same criteria as all other employees
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Performance related bonuses

Annual bonuses can be ecarned by execunve directors
for the achievement of speafic finanaal performance
targets set by the group s board of directors and agreed
by the remuneranon committee The criterion on which
the exccutive directors’ bonuses were based in 2015
was the achievement of £8,660,000 operaung profit,
as measured 1n the depots management accounts,
an increase of 11 3% over the previous years targels
Maximum bhonuses of 19 5% of basic salary are pad
on achieving 120% of the target operaung profit
The murmmum bonus level s 13% paid on achieving
90% of target operating profiu This year 1316% of
thc taiget opcraung profit was achicved carning
19 5% of basic salary Lhe criterion tor the year ended
31 March 2016 will be based on a simiar formula
applying 1o target profits In addinon a Group Bonus
scheme pays out 4 bonus to all ehigible members of staff,
subject 1o achieving 4 mumimum {evel of group profits
This year the scheme s paying 3 62% of basic salarv to
328 chigible employees

Service Contracts

Following a review by the board of dircctors in 1996, the
service contracts of executive directors were amended
o mcorporate a rolling 2 year nouce period This
was considered by the board of dircctors 10 be a
sigmificant but reasonable reducuon in ther ongmnal
5 vear contracts In 2004, the board of directors agreed
that any new service contracts wssued o new direcrors
would incorporate a fixed 2 year period, subject 10 a
minimum 6 month notice penod

Execuuve directon s contracts have no provisions for
pre-deteimuned compensation on  termimnauon  that
cxceeds two years salary and benefits in kind

Remuneration of the non-executive directors
The remunerauon of the non-execuuve dircctors s
determined by the board The non-execunive directors do
not receve 4 pension or other benefits from the group
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Directors Remuneration Report

Review of past performance
Lhe graph below shows the company’s total sharcholder return performance against the total sharcholder return
performance of the AIM All Share [ndex for the five years ended 31 March 2015

James Latham ple total sharecholder return

600 7
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500 M TOT Return ind
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A TOT Return Index
400
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100 : — — . e

—
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The Remuncration Committee consider this w be the most appioprate graph agamst which to compare the
company » performance

Directors’ emoluments
Detatls of the individual dircctors” emoluments for the yodr were as follows

lotal
emolumonts Sharc
Salary excluding bascd Pcnsion
and fees  Benefits  Bonus  punsions payments contnbuuons TOTAI
£000 £000 2000 £000 L0000 L0000 A000
Executive

PDI latham 2015 207 6 47 260 1 - 261
2014 185 9 45 239 2 40 281
D A Dunmow 2015 145 10 35 190 10 30 230
2014 137 11 33 181 15 29 225
C D sutton 2015 140 9 34 183 9 28 220
2014 130 8 33 171 15 27 213
N C latham 2015 109 - 27 136 2 22 160
2014 99 - 24 123 2 21 146
PF Latham 2015 88 10 22 120 2 19 141
(appownted 1 January 2014) 2014 21 - 5 26 1 5 32

Non-executive
P.AJ Latham 2015 30 - - 30 - - 30
2014 29 - - 29 - - 29
M A Bushell 2015 35 - - 35 - - 35
2014 29 - - 29 - - 29
Total 754 35 165 954 24 99 1,077
2014 630) 28 140 798 35 122 955
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Directors Remunerauon Report

Directors’ shareholdings

There were no contracts with the company or is subsidiancs durning the year in which any of the directors had a matenial
tnterest, other than their scrvice contracts The directors” holdings of the share caputal at the end of the financial year
were a5 follows

31 March 2015 31 March 2014
Directors Ordinary shares Preference shares Ordinary shares  Preference shares
PDI1 latham Benchicial owner 1,124,937 Nil 1,119,058 Nl
DA Dunmow Bencficial owner 110,778 Nd 98,775 Nil
CD Sutton Bencficial owner 42,959 Nud 34,344 Nil
NC lLatham Bencheal owner 616,782 Nud 610,928 Nil
PF Latham Bene ficial owner 614,370 567 608,592 567
PAJ Latham Bencheial owner 369,998 Nud 369,505 Nil
MA Bushell Bencficial owner 9,400 N 3 400 Nil

Directors” share option schemes

Save as You Earn Scheme
Partucipauon by the direcions in the James Latham plc Save as You Earn Schemc s as follows

31 March 2015 31 March 2014
PDI Latham 3,658 3,658
D A Dunmow 3,658 3,658
N C Latham 3,658 3658
PF Latham 3,658 3,658

Thesc opuons dare cxercisable on 29 February 2016 at £2 46 a share There arc no performance conditions attached
to these opuions

Company Share Option Scheme

Parucipation by the directors in the James Latham plc Approved Company Share Opuon Scheme 2008 1s as follows

Quwstanding  Granted dunng Qutstanding Exeraise
1 April 2014 theycar  Excrased 31 March 2015 pace Exercise pernod
PD1 lLatham 4,242 - (4,242) - 5165 2611 1410251119
2,532 - - 2,532 £198 1512 150 14 12 20
1,742 - - 1,742 £2 295 2911160281121
1,834 - - 1,834 £2 725 0512 17 1004 12 22
DA Dunmow 3,447 - (3,447) - $1 16 161213101512 18
4,242 - (4,242) - 2165 2611 14w 251119
2,532 - - 2,532 1198 1512 150 1412 20
1,742 - - 1,742 £2 295 2911 16 10 28 11 21
1,834 - - 1,834 £2 725 051217 w004 12 22
1,262 - - 1,262 5396 16121810151223
- 707 - 707 5565 0501 20 0 04 01 25

Continued on page 23
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Company Share Option Scheme [continued!

Directors Remuneratuion Report

Participauion by the directors in the James Latham ple Approved Company Share Opuon Scheme 2008 15 as follows

Outstanding
1 Apnl 2014

CD Suion 3,447
4,242
2,532
1,742
1,834
1,262

N C latham 4,242
2,532
1,742
1,834
1,262

PF Latham 4,242
2,532
1,742
1,834
1,262

Granted during
the year

707

707

707

Excraised

(3,447)

Qutstanding
31 March 2015

4,242
2,532
1,742
1,834
1,262

707

2,532
1,742
1,834
1,262

707

2,532
1742
1,834
1,262

707

Exercise
price

116
£165
£198
£2 295
42725
£3 96
£565

€165
€198
L2 295
&2 725
£396
€5 65
£165
£198
$2 295
2725
£3 96
£5 65

Exercise peniod

1612130151218
261114102511 19
15121510 1412 20
291116102811 21
051217 w04 1222
161218101512 23
0501 20 1o 04 01 25

261114102511 19
151215 1w 14 12 20
2911 1610 2811 21
0512 17t 04 12 22
161218 w0 1512 23
0501201004 01 25

2611 1410251119
1512 15w 14 12 20
201116102811 21
0512171004 12 22
1612180 1512 23
0501 200 04 01 25

No pcrformance conditions atach to these opuons Mr P D L Latham, Mr N C Latham and Mr P F Latham made a gam
of £17,286, Mr D A Dunmow made a gan of £29,833 and Mr C D Sucton made a gain of £12,547 on opuons excrased

during the year

Deferred Share Bonus Plan

Parucipauon by the direciors in the James Latham plc Deferrcd Share Bonus Plan 15 as follows

Quistanding Awarded

1 Apri} 2014

D A Dunmow 5,391
5,195

CD Suuon 5,391
5,195

during
the year

85
113
85
113

Excerased
dunng

the year

{5,476)

(5,476)

Outstanching
31 March
2015

5,308

5,308

Exercise
price

ni
nil

nil
nil

Award Vesung
mie date

52 295 291114
£274 061215
£2295 291114
12274 061215

o performance conditons or voung rights apply 1o these shares, but dwidends will be rainvesied 1o additonal shares
in the plan Mr D A Dunmow and Mr C D Sutton cach made a gan of £29,297 on options exercised dunng the year

MA Bushell, Chatrman of the Remuneration Commuliee

23 fune 2015

JAMIS LATHAM PLC ANNUAL REPORI 2015

23




24

Corporate Governance

Directors Report

The duectors have pleasure in presenong then annual
ieport and the audited accounts for the year ended
31 March 2015 In accordance with sccuon 414c(11)
of the Companies Act 2006, included 1n the Stratcgic
Review 1 the review of business, principal risks and
uncertaintics and key performance ndicators  This
informanon would have been required by section 7 of
the Large dnd Medium sized Companics and Groups
{Accounts and Reports) Reguiations 2008 to be containcd
in the Dircctors Report

Results and dividends

Group results for the year ended 31 March 2015 arc
set out on page 29 lhe directors recommend the
following dividends

Ordinary dividends £000
Interim dividend paid, 3 7 pence per
orchnary share 718

Final dividend proposed, 8 8 pence per
orchnary share 1,711

Tenal ordinary dividends, 12 5 pence per
ordinary sharc 2,429

The directors recommend payment of the final dividend
on 28 August 2015 to sharcholders on the register of
members at the closce of business on 7 August 2015

Balance sheet and post balance sheet events
I'he balance shcet on page 31 shows the group's
financial posiwon No sigmficant cvents have occurred
stince the balance shect date
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Directors

The diectors of the company, whose biographical
details are shown on page 19, were dircctors throughout
the year, other than Andrew Wiight who was appointed
on 1 Apnl 2015

In comphance with the Arucles of Assocrauon, David
Dunmow, Pippa Latham and Meryl Bushell will reure
by rotauon and, being ehgible, offcr themselves for
re-clccuon Andrew Wright, who was appointed during
the year, will be proposed tor elecoon at the Annual
General Mecting

Other than thoir service contracts, no directar has a
matcnal interest in any contract with the company
Pippa latham and Meryl Bushell, as non cxecutive
dircctors, do not have a serviee contrdct with the
company, but cach has reccived a letter of appointment
for 4 two vear peniod Detads of dircctors emoluments,
pension nghts, service contracts and the dircetors
interests in the ordinary shares of the company are
included 10 the Directors” Remuncrauon Report on
pages 20 to 23

Article 168 of the companys Arucles of Associanon
gives the dieectors and officers of the company a right
o be imdemmnificd out of the assets of the company 1in
respect of any liabality incurred in relation to the affairs
of the group to the extent the law allows

The company has undcrtaken to comply with best
practice on approval of directors’ conflicts of interest
Under the Companies Act 2006 a director must avord
a siwanon where there 18, or can be, an interest that
may conflict with the company s intercsts Nonc of the
directors had an interest in any contract 10 which the
group was a party duning the year

Lhe company maintained directors and officets’ habilhity
mnsurance covel throughout the year
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Share capital

Resolutions concerning the abiluy of the board to
purchase the company s own shares and to allot shares
and 0 dis-apply pre-empuon nghts are again being
proposced at the Annual General Mectung

The company holds 719,200 shares as treasury shares,
with a view 10 being used for cmployce shdre schemes
In addition the Trustees of the James Latham Employee
Benefits Trust holds 36,879 shates with a view 1o being
used for employec share schemes

Share option schemes

On 26 August 2007, the sharcholders approved by
ordinary resolution the extension of the Save as You
Earn scheme for a4 further 10 years A 3 year scheme
commenced on B March 2013 with 188,284 opuions
being 1ssued at an opuon price of 4246 A resoluuon
15 bemng put 1o the shareholders at the Annual General
Meeung to increase the maximum amount that can
be saved under this scheme from £250 4 menth o
the maxamum allowed under the relevane legislauon
{currenily £500 a month)

On 21 August 2008, the sharcholders approved by
spectal resolution the establishment of the Company
Share Opuon Scheme During the year 16,262 opuons
were ssucd at an opuon price of 565 In addiuon
51,550 opuons were excrased after bang held for five
years 10,342 at an opuon prce of £1 16 and 41,208 at
an opuien price of §1 65

Substantial shareholdings
At 23 June 2015, the company had recewved nouficaton
under the Disclosure Iransparency Rules thar the
haldings and voung nghts exceeding the 3% noufication
threshold were as follows

Number %

Peter Latham 1,124,937 579

International Plywood (Importers) Lid 963,746 4 96
Robert Latham 680,787 350
Nick Latham 616,782 317
Piers Latham 614,370 316

Directors Report

Payments to suppliers

Operaung businesses arc responsible for agrecing the
terms and condinons under which business transactions
with their supplhers are conducted The group s policy
ts 1o pay supphers in accordance with these terms
The group s creditor days ac 31 March 2015 were 35 days
(2014 36 days)

Going concern

Afr making appropriate enquiries, the directors have a
1easonable expectanton that the company and the group
have adequatc resoutces 1o continuc 1n opcrational
existence for the forcsceable tuture  The directors
canfirm that the business s a going concern and that
their assessment of the going concern position has
been preparcd in accordance with Going Concern and
Ligquidiey Risk Guidance for Dhirectors of UK Companies
2009, published by the Fmanadl Reporung Counal in
October 2009

Palitical and charitable donations

During the year the group made no pohucal contrnbutions
but made dircet donatuons 1o vanous chartable
organisations amounung to £7,040 (2014 £8,265) The
group also made small donatons of our products to a
number of good causes and was involved in fund raising
acuvities for the Tirtbor Trades Benevolent Society

Close company status
The close company provistons of the Income and
Corporation Taxes Act 1988 do not apply 1o the company

Financial instruments

A summary of the group financial nstruments and
related discloswies are set out 1n note 28 1o the group
accounts and in the kinancial Review on pages 10-12
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Directors Report

Provision of information to the auditor
In the, case of cach of the directors who are directors of
the company at the date when this report was approved

* So far as each of the dircctors 15 aware, there 15 no
relevant audit informacnon of which the company s
audior 15 unaware, and

* Each of the direcctors has taken all the steps that
he ought to have taken as a4 dnector to make
himself awaie of any relevant audit informauon and o
establish that the company » auduos 15 aware of that
informarion

Auditor

A resolution to redppoint Baker Ditly UK Audit 1TP as
the company » auchtor and to authonse the directors 1o
tix thar remunerauon will be proposcd at the Annual
General Meeung Baker Tilly UK Audit ILP has indicated
its willingness to continue 1n office

JAMLS LATHAM PLC ANNUAL REFPORT 2015

Annual General Meeting special business

The Annual General Mecung of the company will be
held at Umt 3, Swallow Park, Finway Road, Hemel
Hempsicad, Hertfordshire, HP2Z 7QU on 26 August 2015
4t 1230pm 1he following items are o be proposed as
spectl business, and the board recommends that the
sharcholders vote 1n favour of all resolutions put beforc
the meeting

Resolution 9 Directors authorty to allot shares This
gives the board the power to allot ordinary shates or
other secunities, up to an aggiegaie norminal amount of
£1,680,000 (or one third of the current oidinary shares)

Resolution 10 Dis applicauion of pre empuon nghts
Lhe Companies Act 2006 provides that when ordinary
shares arc boing ssutd for cash, these shares must first
be offercd to existing sharchoklers on 4 pro ratd basis
This resolution empowers the board o allot shares not
wxeeeding 5% of the 1ssuedd share capital, without otfering
1o existing sharcholders [he board only anucipates
using this power 1 comuncuon with the employee

sharc schemes

Resolution 11 Authoriy for the company to purchasc ats
own sharcs Thts gives the board the power to purchase up
o 10% of the company s shares at a price not more than
105% of the average of the mud market price for the ten
business days preceding the date of the purchase

On behalf of the Boaid of Directors
Peter Latham
Chairman

Dt Lecttzaan

23 June 2015
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Statement of Directors Responsibilities

lhe directots aic 1esponsible for preparing the Strategic
Report, Dircctors Repert and the finanaial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations

Company law requires the directors (0 prepare group
and company financal statements for cach financial
year The direciors are required by the AIM Rules of
the Tondon Stock Exchange to prepare group linancial
statements i accordance with International Finanoal
Repornng Standards (“IFRS™) as adopted by the European
Union ‘EU” and have elected under company law to
prepare the company financidl statements 1n accordance
with Unued Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice (Umted Kingdom Accounting Standards and
applicable law)

The group financral statements arc required by law and
IFRS adopted by the EU to present farrly the financal
posiion and performance of the group, the Companies
Act 2006 provides 1n relation 1o such financial statemenis
that references m the relevant part of that Act to financial
statements giving a true and fair view are references 10
thewr achieving a fair presentauon

Lnder company law the directors must not appove the
financial statements unless they are sausfied that they
give a true and fan view of the state of affairs of the group
and the company and of the profit or loss of the group
fon thar penod

In preparing cach of the group ¢nd company financial
statements, the dircciors are required 10

a select switable accounung policies and then apply
them consistently,

b make judgements and accounting eshmates that arc
reasonable and prudent,

¢ for the group financial staternents, state whether
they have been preparcd in accordance with IFRS's
adopted by the EU, and for the company financial
statements statc whether applicable UK accounung
standards have been followed, subject 10 any
matenal departures disclosed and explained 1n the
company financial staicments,

d prepare the financial statcments on the going
concern basis unless 1t 15 inappropriate o presume
that the group and the company will continue 1n
business

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate
accounung records that are sufficent to show and
explain the group’s and company s transactions and
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any umec the
financial posiuion of the group and the company and
to enable them to ensure that the financial statements
comply with the requirements of the Compamies Act
2006 They are also responstble for safeguaiding the
assets of the gtoup and the company and hence
fot taking reasonable sieps for the prevenuon and
detecuion of fraud and other irregularitues

Lhe directors are responsible for the maintenance and
integrity of the corporate and financial informauon
included on the James latham plc investors website,
www lathams co uk

Legislanon 1 the Unued Kingdom goverming the
preparation and dissemination of financial statements
may dhffer from legislavon 1n other junsdicuons

On behalf of the Board of Diectors
Peter Latham
Charman 23 June 2015

btz Lebun
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the members of James Latham plc

We have audiied the group and parent company financal
statements {“the financial statements™) on pages 29 w0 65
Fhe financial reporung framework that has been apphed in
the preparanion of the group finanual statements 1s applicable
law and International Financial Reporuing Standards (IFRSs)
as adopted by the European Umion The financial reporung
framework that has been applied in the preparation of the
parent company financial staiements 1s apphcable law and
United Kingdom Accounung Standards (United  Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounung Practice)

This report 15 made selely to the companys mombers,
as a bedy, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companics Act 2006 Our audit work has been undertaken
s0 that we might state to the company's members those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's
report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume respunsibiliy
to anyone other than the company and the company s
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for
the opimwons we have formed

Respective responsibilities of directors

and auditor

As more fully explained tn the Directors’ Responsibihues
Statement set out on page 27, the directors are responsible
for the preparation of the financial statements and for
being sausfied that thev give a true and fair view Our
responsibility 15 to audit and express an opinien on the
financial statements in accordance with apphcable law
and internauonal Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland)
Thost standards require us to comply wiath the Auditing
Pracuces Board's (APB's) Ethical Standards for Auditors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

A descripuon of the scope of an audu of financial statements
15 provided on the Financial Reporung Council s website at
hitp /www frc org uk/auditscopeukprivate
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Opinion on the financial statements

[n vur opimon

+ the financial statements grve a true and fair view of the
state of the group'’s and of the parent company’s affairs
ds at 31 March 2015 and of the group’s profit for the year
then ended,

* the group financial statements have been properly
prepared tn accordance with IERSs as adopred by the
European Union,

¢ the parent company financal statements have been
properly prepared in accordance with linited Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounung Practice, and

* the finanual statemenis have been prepared i accordance
with the requirements of the Companies Act 20§06

Opinien on other matter prescribed by the
Companies Act 2006

In our opunion the informauecn given in the Strategic Report
and the Directors” Report for the finanaal vear for which
the financial statements are prepared 1s consistent with the
financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report

by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following

Under the the Companies Act 2006 we are required to

report to you i, in our opinion

« adequate accounung records have not heen kept by the
parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have
nat been recerved from branches not visited by us, or

¢ the parent company financial statements are not
agreement with the accounting records and returns, or

* certain disclosures of directors’ remunerattion spectficd
by law are not made or

* we have not recewved all the informatton and explanauons

we require for our audst

Paul Watts
Seror Statutory Auditor

For and on behalf of

BAKER TILLY UK AUDIT LLP

Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants
25 barnngdoun Street

London EC4A 4AB 23 June 2015
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Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2015

Consolidated Income Statement

£'000s Notcs 2015 2014

Continuing operations

Revenue 174,855 163,117

Cosi of sales (including warchouse costs) 3,4, 12 (143,978) (134,688)
Gross profit 30,877 28,429

Selling and disttibugon costs 4,12 (14,082) (12,941)
Admunistrative expenses 4,12 (6,237) (6,016)
Excepuonal adjusiment to defined benefit

pension cost 18 4 - 1,797

Other income 5 6 G

Operating profit 10,564 11,275

Finance income. G 46 27

Finance costs 7 (503) (823%)
Profit before tax 3 10,107 10,479

lax expense 8 (2,285) (1,888)
Profit after tax attributable to owners

of the parent company 7,822 8,591

Earnings per ordinary share (basic) 10 40 3p 44 3p

Earnings per ordinary share (diluted) 10 40 0p 43 9p

Earmings per ordinary share (basic, excluding

exceptional adjustment net of tax} 10 40 3p 36 9p

Earnings per ordinary share (diluted, excluding

excepuonal adjustment net of tax} 10 40 Op 36 6p
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 March 2015

£000s Notes

2015

2014

Profit afier tax

Other comprehensive income

Actuanal (loss)/gan on defined benefit pension scheme
Deferred 1ax refaung to components of other
comprehensive income

(1,849)

434

7,822

5,543

(1.508)

8,591

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

(1,415)

4,035

Total comprehensive income attributable 1o the owners
of the parent company

6,407

12,626
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Financial Statements

At 31 March 2015

Consolidated Balance Sheet

£000s Notes 2015 2014
Assets

Nomn-current assets

Goodwill 13 237 237
Other intangible assers 11 101 108
Property, plant and equipment 12 21,601 22,647
Total non-current assels 21,939 22,992
Current assets

Inventones 14 31,906 27937
Trade and other receivables 15 34,213 32,842
Cash and cash equivalents 12,501 11,234
Total currvent assets 78,620 72,013
Total assets 100,559 95,005
Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 16 23,893 23,191
Interest beanng loans and borrowings 17 9207 238
Tax payable 947 1,017
Total current liabilities 25,747 24,446
Non-current liabilities

Interest beanng loans and borrowings 17 987 1,890
Reurement and other benefit obligaton 18 10,430 9,267
Other payables 19 464 520
Deferred tax Labilines 20 700 774
Total non-current liabilities 12,581 12,451
Total liabilities 38,328 36,897
Net assels 62,231 58,108
Capital and reserves

Issued capual 21 5,040 5,040
Sharc-bascd payment reserve 22 143 123
Own sharcs 23 (177) (175)
Capual reserve 3 3
Retained earnings 57,222 53,117
Total equity attributable to

shareholders of the parent company 62,231 58 108

fhese accounts were approved and authonsed for ssue by the Board of Directors on 23 June 2015 and signed on s behalf by

PD L Latham

D A Dunmow } Directors

The consohdated notes on pages 34 go 58 form part of these accounts

b oo
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Attributable to owners of the parent company

Share based

Issued payment Own Caputal Retamned Toral

capial rescrve shares reserve earnings equity

£'000 £000 £000 5000 £°000 £000
Balance au 1 Apnl 2013 5,040 91 (218) 3 42,551 47,467
Proht for the year - - - 8,591 8,591
Other comprehensive mcome
Actuanal gain on defined benefit
pension scheme - - - 5543 5,543
Deferred eax relaung to components
of other comprehensive income - - {1,508) (1,508)
Total comptehensive income for the yea - - 12,626 12,626
Lransacuons with owners
Dividends - - (2,031) (2,031)
Wrne down on conversion of ESOP shares - 77 - 77y -
Excrase of options (48) - - 48 -
Change in mvestment in ESOP shares - - (34) - (34)
Share hascd payment expense - 80 - - 80
Total transaci:ons with owners 32 43 (2,060) (1,985)
Balance at 31 March 2014 5,040 123 (175) 3 53,117 58,108
Profit for the year - - - 7.822 7822
Cther comprehensive income
Actuarial loss on defned bencfit
penston scheme - (1,849) (1,849
Deferred tax relating to components
of other comprehensive mcome - - - - 434 434
Tokal comprehensive ncome for the year - 6,407 6,407
Transacuons with owners
Dividends - - (2,267) (2,267)
Exercise of opiions - “7 - 47 -
Wrnic down on conversion of LSOP shares - - 82 (82) -
Change 1 investment i FSOP shares - - (84) - - (84)
Share based payment expensc 67 - - 67
Total transactions with owners 20 2) - (2,302) (2,284)
Balance at 31 March 2015 5,040 143 (177) 3 57,222 62,231
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Financial Statements

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 31 March 2015

&°000s Notes 2015 2014
Net cash flow from operating activities

Cash generated from operattons 24 6,218 8,036
Interest pawd (44) 45
Income tax paid (1,996) (1339
Net cash inflow from operating acuvitics 4,178 6,652
Cash flows from investing activities

Interest receved and similar income 46 27
Purchase ol property, plant and equipment (383) (1,181)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 6 -
Net cash outflow from investng activities {331) (1,154)
Cash flows from financing activities

Borrowings repad during the year (234) {229
Fquity dividends paid (2,267) {2,031}
Preference dividend paid (79 79
Net cash outflow from financing acuviues {2,580) (2,339
Increase i cash and cash equivalents

Jor the year 1,267 3,159
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 11,234 8,075
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 12,501 11,234
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Financial Statements

Notes forming part of the Group Accounts

General information

James Latham plc 15 a public hmited company incarporated
and domuciled in the Umted Kingdom under the Companies
Act 2006 and s Listed on the AIM market The nature of
the group » operations and s principal activities are set out
in the Strategic Review  Vhe address of the registered office
15 Unit 3 Swallow Park, kinway Road, Hemel Hompstead,
Hers HP2 7QU

1 Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting palicies applicd in the proparation
of these consoldated actounts are set out bedow These
pohicies have been consistenily applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated

lal Basis of preparation

These consolidated accounts have been prepared in
accordance  with  Internantondl  Firanaial - Reporting
Standards (IFRS) and IFRIC micrpretanons endorsed by
the European Umion (EU) and with those parts of the
Companigs Act 2006 applicable to companies reporung
under IFRS  The company has elected to prepaie 1ts
parent company accounts 1n accordance with UK Generally
Accepted Accounung Pracuice (GAAP) These are presented
on pages 59 10 65

The accounts have been prepared under the hisione cost
convenuoen cxcept for forward contract finanaal instruments
muasured at fair value  The dircctors have prepared the
financial statements on the going coneern bases for the reasons
se1 out on page 25 A summary of the more important group
accounung policzes, which have been apphed consistently
across the group, 15 set out below

At the date of authonsation of these financial staterments, the
following standards and intcrpretations which are wssued but
not yet effective or endorsed (unless otherwise stated) have
not been apphed

IFRS 11 — Joint Arrangements

- IFRS 14 - Regulatory Deferral Accounts

- Amendments to IAS 1 — Presentatuon of Financial
Statements
Amendments to 1AS 16 = Property, Plant and Fquipment
Amendments to IAS 19 - Fmployee Benefits

- Amendments 1o [AS 28 — Investments 1 Assocates and
Joint Ventures

- Amendments to 1AS 38 - Intangible Assets

- Amendments to IFRS 10 — Consoltdated Financial
Swatements
Amendments to IFRS 12 — Disclosure of Interests in
Other Entilies

JAMES LAIHAM PLC ANNUAL REPORI 2015

The directors antipdte that the aduption of these standards
and interpretations as appropriate in future periods will have
no matenal impact on the finanaal statemenis of the group
when the relevant siandards come into effect for pentods
commenacng after 1 Apnil 2015

(b) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated aceounis include the company and all s
subvdiary undertakings {(from the date of acquisiion or 10
the date of disposal where applicable) Intra group sales and
profits are chiminated on consolidation The accounts of all
subsadiary undertakings are made up 1o 31 March

A subsidiary 1» an enuty conwolled, enther dircctly or
indircetly, by the company, where control 15 the power to
govern the finzncial and operaung pohues of the entty
s0 as to obtain benefit from s activines The acquisinon
method of accounting 15 used to account for the acquisiion
of subsidiaries by the group The cost of an acquisiion
1s measured as the far value of the assets given, equuy
mstruments ssued and habilines incurred or assumed ai
the date of exchdange Acquisiion costs are expenscd o the
period in which thev are incurced

1 1 Revenue recognition

Revenue comptises net sales to external customets exclusive
of Value Added Tax Revenue s recognised upon delivery
10, or collecnon by, the customer Revenue s shown nes
of returns and rchates and after eliminaung sales within
the group

1 2 Segmental reporting

IFRS 8 “"Operanng Scgmonts” requires operaiing scgments
to be denufied on the bams of internal reporung of
components of the group that are regularly reviewed by the
chicl operating dedision maker, which the group considers
to be the Charrman, to allocate resources o the segments
and to assess their performance Furiher informatien s
available 1n note 2

1.3 Operating profit

Operaung profit consists of revenues and other operating
income less operatng expenses Operating profic excludes
net finance costs

1.4 Exceptional items

Exceprional items are those tiems of income and expenditure
that by reference 1o the group are materiat in size and nature
or tnaidence, that in the judgement of the directors, should
be disclosed seperatety on the face of the financial statements
10 ensure both that the reader has a proper undeistanding
of the groups financial performance and that there 19
compzrabahity of financial performance boiween penods




Financial Statements

Notes forming part of the Group Accounts

1.5 Foreign currency translation

The funcrional and presentauonal currency of the parent
company and s subsicharies 1s UK Pounds Sierhing
Teransactions in currencies other than the funcuonal
currency are translated at the rate ruling at the date of the
transaction At cach balance sheet date, monciary asscts and
liabiliues denommated in foreign currencies are translated
dr the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date
Any gdins or losses ansing from the transacuons are taken Lo
the income statement

In order to help manage 1ts eaposure to certain forugn
exchange nisks, the group eniers into forward contracts
Gains and losses on forward contracts are recognised at far
value through the income statement

1.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment s stated at cost less
deprecation Deprewanon on property, plant and equipment
1s provided at rates calculated 10 wrie off the cost less
estimated residual vitlue of each assct over s expected life
It 15 calculated at the followng rates

Frechold bulldings - over 50 years

[ easehold improvements - over 5to 15 years
Fixtures and fittings - over 4 1o 1} years
Plant, equpment and vehicles - over 5t 20 years

I rechold land 1s not depreaiated

Isumated restdual values and uscful lhives are reviewed
annudlly and adjusted whure necessary

1 7 Impairment of non-current assets

Govdwill 1s revicwved annually for imparrment The carring
amounts of the groups other miangble assets and
property, plant and equipment are reviewed at cach balance
sheet date 1o determine whether there 1s any indicauon
of imparrment If such an wdicauon exisis, the asset's
recoverable amount s csumated and compared to s
carrying value Where the asser does not generate cash
flows that are independene from other assets, the group
esttmates the recoverable amoumnt of the cash-generauing
unit to which the asset belongs Where the carrying value
exceeds the recoverable amount, a provision for the
impatrment loss v established with a charge heing made o
the income ~tatement

1 8 Goodwiil

Goodwill on consolidauon, being the excess of the purchase
price over the far value of the net asscrs of subsidiary
undertakings at the date of acqumition s capuabised 1in
accordance with IFRS 3 (revised) “Bustness combinauons”
Goodwill 15 tested annually for impairment, or morg
frequently when there 15 an indication that goodwill may
be impaired Goodwll 15 carned at cost less aecumulated
impairment losses Imparment losses on goodwill ate not
reversed in a subsequent poriod

1 ¢ Intangible assets - trademark

Acquired trademarks are shown at histoncal cost Trademarks
are considered to have a fimte hife and are carned at cost less
accumulated amornsation Amortisaton 15 calculated using
the strmight ine method over the esumated useful hfe of
20 years

1.10 Inventories

Inveniones are siated at the lower of cost (including an
appropriatc proporuon of atrributable suppher rebares and
discounts) and nct realisable value

Net redlisable value 1 the esumared selling puce in the
ordinary course of business, less apphcable vanable sclling
expenses Provision 15 made for obsolete or slow moving
inventories where appropriate

The cost of inventorics 1s based on the weighted average
princple

1 11 Financial instruments

Financial asscts and financal habihtes are recognised on the
group s balance sheet when the group has become party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument

1.11 1 Trade recevables

Trade recewables are classified as loans and recaivables and
are iwitally recogmised at fair value They are subsequently
measured at thewr amortised cost using the effective interest
mecthod less any prowvision for impairment A provision
for impairment 15 made where there 15 objecuve evidence
(including customers with financial cifficulties or in default
on payments), that amounts will not be recovered n
accordance with orginal terms of the agreemient A provision
for impairment 1s ¢stabhished when the carrying value of the
recevable exceeds the present value of the future cash flow
discounted using the effecuve interest rate The carrying
value of the receivable 1s reduced through the use of an
dllowance account and any imparrment Joss 1s recognised n
the income statement

JAMTS LATHAM PLC ANNLAL RIPORT 2015
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Notes forming part of the Group Accounts

111 2 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and at
bank and other short term, highly hguid investments that
are reacily converuble 1o known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insigmficant risk of changes in value
Ihe carrying amount of these asscts approximates their
fair value

1.11.3 Finanaal liabilities and equity

lnanaal labiities and equity instruments are classified
aceording 1o the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered Inlo  An equity instrument 1§ any contract that
wvidences a residual interest in the assets of the group after
deducung all of 1ts habiliies

1.11.4 Bank borrowings

Interest bearing bank loans are recorded imuially ar their
fair value, net of direct transacuon costs Such instruments
are subsequently carned at ther amorused cost and finance
charges, including premiums payable on settlement or
wdemption, are recognised in the income staiement over
the term of the instrument using an effecuve rate of interest

111.5 Trade payables

Trade payables are tually recognised at fan wvalue and
subsequently ai amorused cost using the effective intetest
method

1.11 & Equity instruments
Equity instruments 1ssued by the group are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct 1ssuc costs

1.11.7 Derivative financial instruments

The group s activities expose the cativ primanly to foreign
currency and nterest rate nsk  The group uses fureign
exchange forward contracts and fixed rate bank loans 1o
help manage these exposures The group does not use
denvanve financial instruments for speculative purposes

Denvatve financial instruments zre imnally recogmsed at
fair value on the date a denvanve contract 1s entered into
and are subscquentily remeasured at their far value

Foreign currency forward comtracts and fixed rate bank
loans are not designated effective hedges and so are marked
o market at the balance sheet date, with any gains or losses
being tzken through the income statement

JAMES EATHAM PLC ANNUAL REPORT 2015

1.12 Current and deferred income tax

Current tax 15 the (xpected tax payable on taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substanuvely enacted
at the balance sheet date, and any adjustmenis o 1ax
pavable in respect of proevious years

Deferred tax expecied to be payable or recoverable on
differences at the balance sheet date between the iax
bascs and habiliiies and their carrying amounts for financial
reportng purposts v dccounicd for using the habihy
method Deferred tax habihnes are generally recognised for
all taxable temporany differences, and deferred tax asscts
are recogmsed to the excent that it 15 probable that taxable
prafits will be avalable against which deducuble differences
can be vulised

Deferred tax s calculated ar the rates of wmxation which are
expected to apply when the deforred tax assct or habiliy 1s
realised or sertled, based on the rates of taxanon enacted or
substanuvely enacted at the balance sheer date

1.13 Operating leases

Leases in which a sigmificant portion of the risks and rewards
of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as
opetaung leases Payments made under operatng leases ate
charged 1o the income statement on a straight Iine basis over
the penad of the lease

1.14 Dividend distribution

Dwvidend distthution @0 the company s sharcholders 15
recognised as a liability 1n the group’s financizl staiements
in the period in which the dividends arc approved by the
compdny s sharcholders

1.15 Retirement benefit costs

Retirement bonefit costs are accounted for in accordance
with [AS 19 (revised) Employee benefits™ Full detls of the
basis of calculanien of the net pension hability disclosed in
the balance sheet at 31 March 2015, and of the amounts
charged/credited to the income statement and cquiny, are set
out in note 1§ to the accounts

The cost of the defined benefic scheme s determuned
using the projected unit credit method with actuarial
valuations being carned out at the end of each reporting
penod The current service cost represents the increase
in the present value of the plan habihties expected 10
anse fiom employec service in the current poniod  Past
service costs  resulung  from enhanced benefits are
recognised 1n the income statement on a straight-hne
basis over the vesting period, or immedaiately if the benefits
have vested  Interest cost represents 4 net interest Lost




Financial Statements

Notes forming part of the Group Accounts

on the net defined bencefit habidity Gains and losses on
curtailments or settlements are recogrnsed 1n the income
statement 1n the petwod in which the curtadment or
scetlement occurs

Actuanial gains and Josses, which represent differences
between the expected and actuanal returns on the plan
asseis and the effect of changes 1n actuaral assumpuons,
are recngnised in the statement of recognised income and
cxpense in the peried in which they ocecur

Ihe defined benefit habiliy recogmsed 1in the balance
sheet comprises the present value of the benefit obligaton,
MINUs 4Ny pdst service cosls not yet recognised minus the
fair value of the plan assets, if any, at the balance sheet dare
The deficit s classified as a non-current habihity

Penston payments 1o the group’s defined contnibutions
schemes are charged to the income statement as chey arse

1.16 Finance leases

Asscts held under finance leases are recogrnused as assets
of the group at their fair value or, if lower, at the present
value of the mimmum lease payments, each determined
at the incepuon of the lease The corresponding liabzlity
to the lessor 15 included in the halance sheet as a finance
lease oblhganon Lease payments are apporioned berween
finance charges and the reducuon of lease obhgauon so
as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the rematning
halance of the babiliy Finance charges are charged directly
against income

1 17 Share-based payment

The group has appled the requirements of [FRS 2
“Share-based payment” which requires the fair value of
sharc based payments to be recogrised as an expensc

Certain employees teceive remuneratien in the form of
share vptivns The far value of the cquily mstruments
granted 1s measured on the date at winch they are granted by
using the Black Stholes model, and 1s based on the group s
estimate of the number of options that will eventually vest
The fair value 1s expensed in the income statement over the
vesting period

1.18 Treasury shares
Treasury shares are shown at historical cost, and deducted
from retained earmings directly in equity

1.19 Employee Share Ownership Plan [ESOP)

Own shares represent the company's own shares that are
held by the group sponsored ESOP trust in relation to the
group s employees share schemes Own shares are deducted
at costin arnving at shareholders’ equity and gains and losses
on their sale or transfer are recognised directly in equity
FSQP 1s treated separatcly and consolidated in the group and
companv accounts

1 20 Accounting estimates and judgements

Lhe directors consider the coimical accounting estimates and
judgements used 1n the findndial statements and concluded
that the main areds of judgements dre

1 Post employment bencfits
1 Stock obsolestence provision
m Provisions for recewables impairment

These estimates are based on historical expertence and
various other assumptions that management and the board
of directors believe are reasonable under the circumsiances
and are discussed i more detail under therr respective notes
For post-employment bencfits, the directors take advice from
a qualified actuary Due to the inherent uncertainty involved
in making assumpnions and estumates, actual outcomes coukd
differ from those assumpuions and estimates

2 Business and geographical segments

For management purposes, the group 1s organised into one
trading diviston, that of umber imporung and distribucion,
carnied out 1n each of the eleven locanions trading wholly
in the United Kingdom

In cach location, turnover and gross mdrgin > reviewed
scparatelv for Panel Products (tncluding ATP) and Timber
(ncduding Flooring and LDT} Most locauons sell both
praoducts groups, except 1n the london region where
for operauonal efficiency Panel Products and Timber are
sold from separate locations Resources are allocated and
employees incentivised on the basis of the results of their
individual location and net on the basis of a product group

Whilst there are regional differences n the relanve
mmportance of product groups and classes of customer,
each lecat:on 15 considered to have similar economic
chatacreristics and so can be aggregated into one segment
We therefore consider there v one business segment and
one gengraphic segment
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Notes forming part of the Group Accounts

3. Profit before tax

Profit for the year has been arnved at afier
taking into account the following

Net foreign exchange gains
Cost of iInventunes recognised ds an expense and included
1 *cost Of sales” 1n the consolidated income statement
Depreciavon of property, plant and cquipment — owned
{Profit}loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Amorusaton
Operaung lcase rentals - vehicles and plant

- property

Fees payable 1o the company’s auditer for the audit
of the consolidated and parent company accounts

Fees payable 1o the company s auditor and s
associates for other services

The audit of the company » subsidiary pursuant to legislation
Tax services

Fees 1n relation to the audit of the James Latham ple Pension
and Assurance Scheme

4. Information regarding employees

The monthly average number of persons, including directors,
employcd by the group dunng the year was as follows

Management and admimstrauon
Warehousing

Selling

Disiribution

The aggregate payroll costs of these employces were as follows

Wages and salaries

Social sceurity costs

Pension costs

Past service on pension cost
Share-based payment

2015

£'000

559
539

£°000

105

141,508
1,428

5)
7

1,098

59
15

2015
Number

54
102
124

61

341

£'000

11,265
1,138
1,224

_ &
13,694

2014
&'000 &£'000

134

130,607
1,496
3

7
570
539

1,109

58
11

2014
Number
54

93

117
62

326

% 000

10,607
1,076
1,370

(1,797

80

11,336

Of the above payroll costs, £2,897,000 (2014 £2,634 000) 15 included in cost of sales £7,090,000 (2014 £6,697,000) 1s
included in selling and distnbution costs, and £3,707,000 (2014 £2,005,000) 15 included i administratuve expenses in

the income statement
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Notes forming part of the Group Accounts

5. Other income

Rent reccivable

4, Finance income

Interest recevahle

The interest received 15 on bank deposis

7 Finance costs

On bank loans and ovcrdrafis
On pension hiabihty
On 8% Cumulauve Preference shares

2015
£'000

2015
£’000

46

2015
£'000

44
380
79

503

2014
$'000

2014
£000

27

2014
£'000
45
699
79

823

The nterest payable on bank loans and overdrafts 15 payable on balances with a matunity analysis ot tess than 6 months
4l the balance shect date and imierest on all other interest payments are bascd on balances with a maturity analysis of

over five years at the balance sheet date
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Notes forming part of the Group Accounts

8. Tax expense

The charge tor taxation on profit comprises

Current year

UK corporation tax at 21% (2014 23%)
Adjustment 1n respect of prior year
Deforred taxanon - pension

- IBAs derecognised in current vear

- change in 1ax rates

- on trading losses carned forward

- other

Proht before taxation

Tax at 21% (2014 23%)

1ax effect of expenses/credits that s1e not

deducublestaxable in determining taxahle profit

1BAs derecagnised 1 curient yedr
Change in tax rates

Other

Adjustment in respect of prior year

Total tax charge

2015
£'000

1,947
(21)
137
(21)

92
151
2,285

10,107
2,122

(1)
1)
206
2n

2,285

2014
& 000

1,832
(13}
397
29
(323)
203
(179)

1,888

10,479
2410

(60
(29)
(323)
7
(13

1,888

There are tax trading losscs of smil (2014 £439,000) carried lorward in the accounts of Lathams Limited for the trade

transfereed from DLH UK Ttd

%. Dividends

Ordinary dividends

Final 8 Op per share pard 22 August 2014 (2013 7 1p)
Intenm 3 7p per share pad 30 January 2015 (2014 3 4p)

2015
£'000 £000
1,549
718
2,267

2014

£ 000 £'000

1,372
659

2,031

The Directors propose a final dividend for 2015 of 8 8p per share, that, subject to approval by the shareholders, will
be paid on 28 August 2015 to sharcholders on the register on 7 August 2015

Based on the number of shares currently 1n 1ssue, the final dividend for 2015 15 expected o absorb £1 711 000
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Notes forming part of the Group Accounts

10. Earnings per ordinary share

Earnings per ordmnary share 1s calcutated by dividing the net profit for the year aunbuable to ordinary shareholders by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year

2015 2014
£'000 £'000
Net profit atnbutable 1o orcinary shareholders 7,822 8,5M
Net profit aitributable to ordinary shareholders Iuss exceptional —— —
adjustment to defined benefit pension cost net of 1ax 7,822 7,153
Number Number
‘000 000
[ssued ordinary share caputal 20,160 20,160
Less weighted average number of own shares held in treasury investment (719) 719
Less weghted average number of own shares held 1n ESOP Trust (52) (56)
Weighted average share capital 19,389 19,385
Add dilutve effects of sharc opuons ssued 169 182
Weaghted dverage share capitdl for diluted earnings per ordinary
share calculation 19,558 19,567
11 Intangible assets L rademark
LAV ]
Cost
At 1 Apnl 2013 155
Addiions .
At 1 April 2014 155
Addiions -
At 31 March 2015 155
Amortisation
At 1 Apnl 2013 40
Charge for the vear 7
At 1 April 2014 47
Charge for the vear 7
At 31 March 2015 54
Net book valuc
At 31 March 2015 101
Al 31 March 2014 108
At 31 March 2013 115

The amorusauon charge s included in the income statement under adminisitative expenses

The registered trademarks of the group are Bausen® Flooring and Bufilalo® Board
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12. Property, plant and equipment

Short Plant,
lcaschold cquipment
Frechold properiy and
property  LmMprovements vehicles Total
1’000 Y000 000 £'000
Cost
At 1 Apnl 2013 18,728 613 9379 28,720
Additions 14 - 1,167 1,181
Disposals - (30) (30)
At 1 April 2014 18,742 613 10,516 29,871
Addinons - - 383 383
Disposals - 2m {20)
At 31 March 2015 18,742 613 10,879 30,234
Depreciation
At 1 Apnil 2013 1,919 177 3,659 5,755
Disposals - - 27 27)
Chaige for the yem 247 37 1,212 1,496
At 1 Apnil 2014 2,166 214 4,844 7,224
Dispusals - - &) 19
Charge for the year 247 37 1,144 1,428
At 31 March 2015 2,413 251 5,969 8,033
Net book value
At 31 March 2015 16,329 362 4,910 21,601
At 31 March 2014 16,576 399 5,672 22,647
At 31 March 2013 16,809 436 5,720 22,965

Included in frechold property 1s land with 4 book value of £6,311,000 (2014 £6,311,000) which 1s not depreuated

The depreciation charge 15 included in the income statement as follows

Cost of sales
Selling and distribution costs
Administrative expenses
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2015
£'000

800
519
109

1,428

2014
£ 000

806
591
99

1,496



Financial Statements

Notes forming part of the Group Accounts

13 Goodwill Goodwill
£ 000

Cost

At 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2015 362

Impairment

At 1 Apedd 2013 and 31 March 2015 125

Net book valuc

At 31 March 2015, 2014 and 2013 237

The goodwill arose upen the acquisition of part of the trude and net assets of F H Thompson Limited 1n the year ended
31 March 2005

In accordance with the group’s accounung policy the carrying value of goodwill 15 reviewed annually for impairment
The review entails an assessment of the present value of projected return from an asset over a penod of 5 years
The discount rate used 1n the group’s estmated weighted average cost of capatal s currently 6%

Lhe review performed at the year end did not result in tho impairment of goodwill as the estimated recoverable
amount exceeded the carrying value  The recoverable amount of the cash generaung unit to which the goodwill has
been allocated 15 determined based on valuc-in-use calculations

14. Inventories 2015 2014
£'000 £000

Finished goods and goods for resale 32,620 28,603
Less provisions for slow moving and obsolete stock (714) (666)
31,906 27,937

1hc inventones impairment charge for the year ended 31 March 2015 was 461,000 (2014 341,000) Impairment charges
reversed duning the year were £413,000 (2014 £389,000) The reversdl of inventaries anses from sdles in the yedr of the
slow moving and obsolete stock previously provided

Inventones are pledged as sccunues agamst bank overdrafts (see note 17)
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15. Trade and other receivables 2015 2014

£'000 £000

Teade receivables 31,428 30,281
Orher recewvables

Other recevables 1,123 1,060

Piepayments 1,662 1,501

2,785 2,561

34,213 32,842

The directors consider that the carrving amount of trade and other recewvables approxamates their fair value

Trade recetvables amounted to £31 428,000 (2014 £30 281,000, net of a provision of €126,000 (2014 £136,000) for
tmpairment Movements on the group provistons for imparrment were as follows

2015 2014

£'000 £ 000

At 1 Aprl 2014 136 246
Provisions for recervables impairmeni 281 197
Receivables wntten off duning the year as uncollecuble (291) 307
Ar 31 Maich 2015 126 136

The average credit penod on sale of goods 15 52 days (2014 53 days)

Ihe following table provides analysis of trade and other reccwables that were past duc at 31 March 2015 but not
imparred he group believes that the balances are ulumately recoverable based on a review of past payment history
and the current finanual status of the customers

2015 2014

£000 £000

0 30 days 611 919
31-60 days 35 111
61-90 days z9 20
675 1050

There ate no sigmficant credit nsks ansing from financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

At 31 March 2015, £33,846,000 (2014 £32,559,000) of rade and other 1eceivables were denominated n sterhing, £165,000
(2014 £157,000) were denominaied in Furos and $202,000 (2014 £126,000) weie denominated in US dollars
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Notes forming part of the Group Accounts

16 Trade and other payables 2015 2014
£'000 5000

Trade payabtes 17,784 16,744
Other taxauon and social securnty 3,282 3,697
Other payables 1,201 1,228
Accruals and deferred income 1,626 1,522
23,893 23,191

Trade and other payables prinaipally comprise amounts vutstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs The average
credit penod taken tor trade purchases 1s 35 davs (2014 36 days)y The dircctors consder that the carrying amount of
trade pavables approximates 1o their fair value

At 31 March 2015, 21,923,000 (2014 421,478,000} of trade and other payables were denominated in sterhing, £1,513,000
(2014 £1,075,000) in US dollars and £457,000 (2014 £638,000) in Euros

Based on the balance sheet value of trade and other payables, as shown above, a 10% change 1n the currency exchange
rate would lcad 1o an increase or decrease in income and equity of $197,000 (2014 %171,000)

17. Interest bearing loans and borrowings 2015 2014
£'000 &£'000

Current liabiities
Bank loans 907 238

Non-current habilities

Bank loans - 903
Cumulanive preference shares of £1 each (note 21) 987 987

987 1,890
Total 1,894 2,128

The loans and borrowings were all denominated wn sterling Bank loans are secured by a legal charge over a freehold
property The bank loan was repaid on 1 June 2015 and the charge released

The group would normally expect that suffictent cash 1y generated 1n the operaung cycle to meet the contractual cash
flows as discussed above thiough effecuve cash management In additton, the group maintains uncommitted undrawn
bank faciities of £1,000,000 (2014 £2 000,000) which can be accessed as considered necessary The facilities bear
mterest at 2% above basc rate and arc sccured by fixed and floaung charges over the asscts of the company and its
subsidianics  Lhts facliy 15 renewed annually

The cumulanve preforence shares arc held on an ongoing basts and pay dvidends ar 8% por annum
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17. Interest bearing loans and borrowings (continued)

Bank loans 2015 2014
Current Non-current Current Non-Current
£000 £'000 £'000 £ 000
Bank loans 907 - 238 003
2015 2014

The weighted average interest rates pad were
Bank loans 3 59% 359%

The weighted average perod unul matusnity was 02 years (2014 4 4 years)

18. Retirement and other benefit obligations 2015 2014
5000 £000
Rearement benefit cbligatons (note 18 2) 10,430 9,267

18.1 Group pension schemes

James Latham ple aperates a group coninbutory defined benefit pension scheme The scheme 15 a funded scheme
Bencfits are provided based on carmings 1n the last twelve months before reurement, plus average bonuses receved
over the last theee years Lhe assers of the scheme are held separately from those of the company 58% of the assets are
mvested in equities, with 52% under passtve management by Blackrock and 6% 1n a Fund of Hedge funds managed by
Mesirow 32% are held in bonds and gilts, with 19% 10 a Buy and Maintain Fund managed by Morcers, 6% inan Absolute
Return Fund managed by Wellington and 7% 1n an Index Linked fund managed by Blackrock, with the remaiming 9% in a
HLV Property Fund managed by Aviva and 1% wn cash

The group contnibutory defined benefit pension scheme 15 closed to new entrants, and a defined contmbunon group
scheme has been established for the pension provision of all other employees, including those conuburing through auto
enrolment

The pension charge for the year for all schemes was £1,224,000 (2014 £1,370,000) Of the charge, £102,000 (2014
£113,000) 1s included 1n cost of sales, £352 000 (2014 £356,000) 15 included in selhing and distnbuuon costs, and 770,000
(2014 £901,000) 15 included 1n administrauve expenses in the tncome statement

Contnbutons are deternuned by a qualified actuary on a basis of tnenmal valuations using the projected unut funding
method The most recent available valuatuon was at 31 March 2014 The assumputions which have the most sigruficant
effect on the results of the valuanon aie those relaung to the rate of return on investments and the rates of increase in
salanes and pensions

It was assumed that the investment 1eturn would be 6 0% per annum pre-retirement and 4 5% per annum post-
reurement, that the salary increascs would average 3 6% per annum and chat the present and future pensions would
increase at the rate of 3% per annum n respect of service to 1 Janvary 1991 Pensions aceruing between 1 January 1991
and 28 Fibrudry 1999 are required 1o increase at the greater of (a) 4%, and (b) 3% on the GMP and 5% on the excess over
the GMP Penstons accruing after 1 March 1999 ancrease at Limited Price Indexation which has been assumed (o average
26% in the future Timited Price Indexation was replaced by the Consumer Price Index (CPI) tor payrises occurring after
1 January 2014
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18.2, Group defined benefit pension scheme

The group operates 4 defined benefic scheme The current pracuce of increasing penstons in ine with inflauon 1s

included 1n the measurement of the defined benefit obligation

The retirement benefit habihty recognised in the batance sheet 15 the present value of the defined benefit obhganons, less
the fair value of the scheme assets adjusted for past service costs Actuarial gans and losses ate immediately recognised

in the statement of other compichensive income

Change m benefit obligatron

Benefit obligation at beginmng of year
Service cost

Fxceptional past service cost (s note 18 4)
Interest cost

Plan members contribution

Actuanal loss (gain)

Benchts pad

Prcmiums pad

Benefit obligation at end of year

Analysis of defined benefit obligation
Schemes that are wholly or partly funded

Change n scheme assets

Fair value of scheme assets at beginning of year

Interestincome

Return on plan assets {excluding interest income)

Employers contributions (incl employer direct benefit payments)
Member contributions

Bencefits paid from plan

Expenses pad

Fawr value of scheme assets at end of year

Amounts recogmsed m the balance sheet
Presend vaiue of lunded obhgations
Fair value of scheme assets

Net hability

2015
%000

58,237
594

2,580

5

4,842
(1,820)
a7

64,421
64,421

48,970
2,200
2,993
1,776

5

(1,820)

(133)

53,991

64,421
53,991

10,430

2014
£'000

62,770
823
(1,797)
2,725
5
(4 604)
(1,670)
(1%)

58,237
58,237

45,977
2026
939
1,834
5
(1,670)
(141)

48,970

58,237
48,970

9,267
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18 2. Group defined benefit pension scheme {continued)

Components of pension expense
Current service cost

Past service Lost

Interest cost

Income on plan assets

Expenses pad

Total pension expense recognised i the income statement
Actuarial loss (gain) immediately recogmised
Total recogmsed 1n the statement of other comprehensive income

Cumulanve amount of actuanal loss immediately recognesed

Plan assets

Fhe asset allocauons at the year end were as follows
Equines

Bonds

Property

Other

Amounts included 1n the fair value of assets for
Fquity instruments

Bond instruments

Property occupied

Other assets used

JAMES LATHAM PLC ANNUAL REPORIT 2015

2015
£'000

594

2,580
(2,200)
116

1,090
1,849
1,849
Ti414

2015

58 5%
319%
8 9%
0 7%

100 0%

2015
£'000

31,560
17,248
4,788
395

53,991

204
£'000

823
(1,797
2,725
(2,026

126

(149)
(5,543)

(5,:543)

9,565

204

598%
320%
7 4%
08%

100 0%

2014
£'000

29,271
15,694
3,608
397

48,970
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18 2 Group defined beneht pension scheme fcontinved]

2015 2014
Weighted average assumptions used to determune bencfit obligations
Discount rate 320% 450%
Raic of compensation increase 295% 335%
Inflatton (RPI) 295% 335%
Inflatton (CPI) 195% 235%
Rate of pension increases 205% 235%
Weighted average hife expectancy for mortality tables used to determune
benefit obligations
Male member age 65 {current life expectancy) 241 243
Female member age 65 (current hife expectancy) 26.1 267
Male member age 45 (ife expectancy at age 65) 260 261
Female membu age 45 (hfe expectancy at age 65) 28.1 287
Weighted average assumptions used to determine pension expense
Discount rate 4 50% 4 40%
Ratc of compensaton increasc 335% 4 40%

Sensitivity analysis of the key assumptions
The valuauon of the scheme s habiliues s dependant on the assumpuons used The sensitvaty of the valuanon of the
liability to changes m the assumpuons 15 shown in the rable below

Impact on deficit

(Decreasc)fincrease
£'000

Discount rate ineredses by 0 25% (3,209)
Inflaton rate increases by 0 25% 1,625
Life expectancy increases by one year 2,055

History of plan assets and defined benefit cbligation

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
£°000 & 000 L'000 L0000 A000
Present value of defined bone fir obliganon 64,421 58,237 62,770 53,010 47,031
Fair value of plan assets 53,991 48,970 45977 40,694 38,470
Net habilicy 10,430 9,267 16,793 12,316 8,561

Contributions
The group expects (o contnbute £876,000 1o the pension scheme for the year ending 31 March 2016

18.3. Defined contribution pension payments

The group operates an txecutive defined contnbution scheme managed by Acgon The group has agreed to match
contributions by eligible emplovees up to a maximum of 7 5% In addiion Acgon also manage our auto-enrolment
scheme where employecs are enrolled with 4 mimimum of 3% matching contnibutions up to a maximum of 5%

Pension contithuuons paid 1o the defined contrihbution scheme for the year toialled £390,000 (2014 £369 000)
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18 &4 Exceptional adjustment to defined benefit pension cost

During the previous year the trustees of the defined benefit pension scheme amended the index used to measure
inflation from the Retail Price Index (RPD) to the Consumer Price Index (CPI) This followed research by the government
and the Office of Nauonal Staustcs which concluded that RPE overstated the true level of price inflauon This affected
all penstones pay rises with effect from 1 January 2014 The effect of this change 15 10 produce an exceptional credit of

£1,797,000 to the service cost for the previous yeat

19 Other payables (non-current Liabilities)

2015 2014
£'000 1 000
Accruals and deferred income 464 520
20 Deferred tax
The net deferred 1ax asset/(habihty) 15 made up of the following clements
Post- Roll over
emplovment  Revalued gains on
benefits properties dsnels Other (*) Total
£'000 £000 %000 £'000 57000
As at 1 April 2013 3914 (102) (2,134) 875 803
(Charge)/credu 1o the income statement (438) - 278 91 (69)
Credit direct to equity (1,520) 12 - - (1,508)
At 31 March 2014 asset/{hability) 1,956 (90) (1,856) (784) (774)
(Charge)/credst to the income statement 7 - - (229) (222)
Credit dircet to equity 296 - - 296
At 31 March 2015 asset/(hability) 2,259 o0 (1,856 {(1013) (700)

* Includes accelerated capital alfowances, share-hased pavments, industrial brdldings allowances and tradmy losses

Deferred tax has been calculazed using rates that are expected 10 4pply when the asset or lability 1s expected to be realsed

or stitled, based on rates that were substantively enacted at the balance sheet date
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21 Share capital

Ordinary shares

Ordmary shares of 25 pence cach

Notes forming part of the Group Accounts

2015 and 2014

Authorised Issued
Number £000 Number £'000
28,000,000 7,000 20,160,000 5,040

2015 and 2014

Preference shares Authonised Issued
Number £000 Number £'000
8% Cumulanve Preterence Shares of £1 cach 1,500,000 1,500 987,000 987

Preference shares are included in non-current habilities {as interest beaning loans and borrowings) See note 17

The Cumulauve Preference shares carry the nght to recewve the 8% dividend in prionty to all other shares and the right of
a return on assets 1n prionty o all other shares Thev do not carry the nght o further parucipate 1n profits or assets, nor o
vote at 2 General Meceung unless the resolunon directly or adversely vanes any of thewr nights or privileges

There wete na movements in the share capital of the company in exther the yea ended 31 March 2015 or 2014

22. Share-based payment

Equity-settled share option schemes

Detaibs of the share options ourstanding

duning the year are as follows

Quistanding at beginnung of year
Granted dunng the year

Forferted durnng the ycar
Exerased during the year

Cutstanding at the end of the year

2015 2014
Weighted Weighted

Number average Nil price Sumber average Nil price
of share CXCrcise share of share eXerse share
options price (&) options opuons price (£ options
366,928 237 21,008 400,168 214 38,082

16,262 565 560 25,394 396 746
(10,159) 220 - (19,373) 224 -
(51,550) 155 (10,952) (39,261 116 (17.820)
321,481 267 10,616 366,928 237 21,008

The weighted average share price for opuons exercised duning the year was £5 55 (2014 53 96)
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22. Share-based payment {coentinued}]

Details of the opuons outstanding at 31 March 2015 are shown below 19,000 (2014 12,894) of these options wete
exeicisable at the year end

2015 2014
Nil price Nil price
share share

CSOP SAYE OpLens Cs0p SAYE opuony

Range of exercise prices £1 65-55 65 £2 46 Nil 41 16-5396 £2 46 Nil

Number of sharcs 153,094 168,387 10,616 192,323 174,605 21,008
Weighted average expected

remairung hife (yedrs) 30 a9 02 30 19 11

The Black-Scholes option model 15 used 10 caltulate the farr value of the opuons and the amount 1 be expensed
No performance conditions apply to any of the share opnion schemes

The inputs nto the Black-Scholes model, expressed as weighted averages for options granted dunng the year are as follows

2015 2014
il price Nil price
share share
CSOP SAYE options CSOP SAYE opuoens
Share price at grant date %5 65 - - £3 96 - -
Oplion exercise price £5 65 - - £396 - -
Expected volatihty 24% - - 24% - -
Opton life 5 years - - 5 years -
Risk free interest rate 1.7% - - 29% - -
Fair value £139 - . £107 -

Expected volaubity was determined by calcufating the historical volauliy of the group s share price aver the previous
5ycars The option life 15 based on opuons being exercised 1 accordance with usual patterns Opuons are forfewed 1f
the employee leaves the group before opuons vest For the CSOP scheme, the oprions can be excrased up o 5 years
after the vesung date, and with the SAYE scheme this penod 1s 6 months The risk free interest rate 1s based on 10 year
UK Government Bonds For the nil price share options, dividends will be remnvested into additional shares in the plan

The group recognsed total expenses of £67,000 (2014 £80,000 1elated to equity settled share-hased payment transacuons
in the year

Share Incentive Plan

The Company also runs an approved Share Incenove Plan m which ehgible emplovees can buy Partinership Shares
at mid-market price on the date of the grant The shares are huld in the employee benefits trust for 4 $ year penod
The number of shares held in trust of this plan at 31 March 2015 was 191,115 (2014 180,217}
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23. Own shares

At 1 Apnl 2013
Cost
Movement 1n the year

Ar 31 March 2014
Movement 1n the year

At 31 March 2015

£000

218

(43)

175
2
177

I'he investment in own shares 1epiesents 36,879 25p Ordmary shares (2014 67,080 25p Otdinary shaies) held on behalf
of the James Latham ple Fmployee Benefits 1rust, a discretionary trust This represents 0 18% (2014 ¢ 33%) of the issued
share capital The maximum number of shares held during the year was 82,900 (0 41%} Dmdends have been warved and
all Income and expenditure of the trust has been dealt wath through the group’s income statement None of these shares

have buen allocated o employees

AL 31 March 2015 719,200 (2014 719,200} 25p Ordinary shares were held by the company as Treasury Shares These shares

are held with 4 view to being used for employee share schemes

24 Cash generated from operations

Profit before tax

Adjustment for finance income and expense

Depreciation and amortisanon

(Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and cquipment
InLredse 1 inventories

Incrcase in receivables

Increase in payables

Reurement benefits non cash amounis

Share-based payments non cash amounts

Own shares non cash amounts

Cash generated from operations

25. Leasing commitments

2015
£'000

10,107
457
1,435
(5)
(3,969)
(1,371)
647
(1,066)
67

(84)
6,218

2014
£ 000

10,479
796
1,503
3

(1,715)

(3.965)
3,571

(2,682)
80

(34
8,036

Future 4ggiegate minimum paymenes under vanious operating lease: contracts for vehicles, plant and property payable by

the group are as follows

Vehicles and Plant
No later than one year
later than one year but no later than hve vears

Property

Mo later than one year

Later than one year but no later than five years
Later than five years

The average penod of leasing for vehicles and plant 1s four years

2015
£'000

427
486
913
595
2,383
2,044
5,022

2014
£'000

478
505

983
595
2,383
2,640

5,618
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26, Related party transactions

The group has a relaied party rddanonship with s subsidianies and with ws directors Transactions between group
companies, which are related partes, have boen diminated on consolidanon and are not chiscloscd in this note

The remuneraton of the key management of the group, who are the
Company's directors, 1s set out below

2015 2014

£'000 £000

Salaries and other short-term employce benefits 954 798
Social secunty costs 123 97
Pension cosis 99 122
Shate-hased payments 24 35
1,200 1,052

There are 4 drectors 1o whom reurement benefits are aceruing under defined benefit schemes, and 5 directors thar
exercised share opuons dunng the year

Fmoluments for the highest paid duecior otalled £260,000 (2014 £239,000) The highest paid duector abo exercsed

4,242 Company Shaie Opuon Plan share opuons durning the year at a gain of £17,286 The highest paid director had an
accrued defined bencfit pension of £109,000 (2014 £108,000) at the halance sheet date

27. Capital commitments
At 31 March 2015, there were capital commitments contracted for but not provided i the accounts of $413,000 (2014 £76,000)
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Notes forming part of the Group Accounts

28. Financial instruments

The group's acuvitics expose the group to a number of nsks including market nsk (foretgn currency nsk and interest rawe
risk), credit nsk and hguidity nsk The group manages these nisks through an effccuve nsk management programme
Further details are. set out in the Financial Review on pages 10-12

Maturity analysis
The table below analyses the group s financial habilines on a contractual gross undiscounted cash flow basis into maturity
groupings based on period outstanding at the balance sheet date up to the contractual maturity date

Between Between
Less than 6 months 1 and More than
6 months and 1 year 3 vears S years Total
£'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000
2015
Bank loans 907 - - - 07
Trade payables 17,784 - - - 17,784
Accruals 1,594 - - - 1,594
Other payables 1,201 - - - 1,201
Cumulanve preforence shares of £1 cach - - - 987 987
Total 21,486 - - 987 21,590
2014
Bank loans 118 120 Su3 - 1,141
Trade payables 16,744 - - - 16,744
Accruals 1,490 - - - 1,490
Other payables 1,228 - - - 1,228
Cumulauve preference shares of £1 each - - - 987 987
Total 19,580 120 203 987 21,590

Foreign currency risk

Approximately 42% of the group’s purchases are denominated in foreign currencies, principally the US dollar and the
Eurc Forward contracts are used where we have agreed exchange rates with our customers and we also use other
currency denvatives 1o help manage our short 1erm exposure on a weakening sterling from tme to ume However, no
more than 25 percent of the currency requirements will be covered by forward contracts or other currency denvatives

Whilst purchases 1n foreign currencies are a significant figure, fluctuauons 1in currency exchange rates do not have a major
impact on the results As the group trades manly in the UK, the market pnce of our products tends to fluctuate in hne
with spot pnices

Included 16 group cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 2015 was £37,000 in US Dollars (2014 £390,000) and £46,000 1n
Euros (2014 £184,000), at varble interest rates

Based on the balance sheet value of cash and cash equivalents, as shown above, a 10% change n the currency exchange
rate would lead to an increase or deciease in income and equity of £8,000 (2014 £57 000)

Interest rate rnisk

The group’s interest rate exposure arises mainly from its interest bearing deposits Deposits held at floating rates
expose the enuty to cash flow nsk whitst deposits held at fixed rate expose the enuty 1o fair value nsk
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28, Financial instruments fcontinued)

The table bolow shows the group's financal assets and liabibitics spht by thosc bearing fixed and flloating rates and those
thdt are. non-interest boaring

Financial assets Non-

Fixed Floaung interest
ratc rate beanng Total
2015 £'000 £°000 £'000 £000
Cash and cash equivalents - 12,501 - 12,501
Trade and other recevables - - 32,551 32,551
- 12,501 32,551 45,052

Non-

Fixed Floating mnterest
ratg ratc bearing Total
2014 £'000 £'000 £'000 £°000
Cash and cash equivalenes - 11,234 - 11,234
[rade and othcr recevables - 31,341 31,341
- 11,234 31,341 42,575

Financial hiabil:ties Non-

Fixe.d Floating nterest
rate 1ate bearing Total
2015 %000 £'000 £'000 £"000
Trade payables - 17,784 17,784
Accruals - - 1,594 1,594
Other payables - - 1,201 1,201
Bank loan 907 - 907
Cumulative preference shares of 1 each 987 - - 987
1,894 - 20,579 22,473

Non-

Fixed Floating INterest
rate rate bearing Total
2014 £°000 5£'000 £'000 £'000
Trade payables - - 16,744 16,744
Accruals - - 1,490 1,490
Other payables - - 1,228 1,228
Bank loan 1,141 - - 1,141
Cumulauve. preference shares of £1 each 987 - . 987
2,128 - 19,462 21,590

Interest rate r1sk s imited 1o the cash and cash equivalents and hank loans

Based on the halance sheet value of cash and cash equivalents and bank loans, as shown above, a 1% change 1in interest
basc rates would lead to an (ncrease or deerease 1o income and cquity of £125,000 (2014 +112,000)
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Notes forming part of the Group Accounts

28 Financial instruments {continued)}

Credit risk exposure

Credit nisk arises on our financial asset investments, trade receivables and cash and cash equivalents Credit exposure
ts managed on a2 group basis and appropriate credit imits are set for cach customer taking into account credut reports
recewed from outside agencies, and previous credit lustory Credit insurance 15 taken out to cover approved individual
debtors with balances over 540,000 Where limits are required above 540,000 that cannot be backed by mnsurance, a
sub-committee of the board will review reports on the customer, and agree additonal kimits of approprate Bad debts
are (0 15% of sales this year, compared with our target of 0 4% The carrying amaunt of finanaial assets recorded 1n the
accounts which 1s net of impairment losses, represents the groups maximum exposute ter credit nisk

Liqudity nsk

The group closcly monitors 1ts cash posttion to ensure that w has suffictient funds to meet the obliganons of the group
as they fall due Short term bank deposits are executed only with organisatons with a long term ratng of at least A- from
the major raung agencies

Capital management

The group manages 1ts capital risk by ensurnng that us capnal, which represents share capnial, retained earmings, investments
own sharcs and cash, 18 sufficient to support the ongoing needs of the business, and 15 organised (o try and munimise the cost
of capital over the medium term The group s current strategy 15 t© mamtain sufficient cash balances to sausfy ongoing needs

Finance income
An analysis of finance income 15 set out n note 6 to the consolidated accounts

Finance costs
An analysis of finance costs s set out in note 7 to the consohdated accounts

Financial instruments recognised in the balance sheet

Loans and
2015 receivables
Current assets £'000
I'rade recewvables 31,428
Qther receivables 1,123
Cash and cash equivalents 12,501
Total current assets 42,052
Financial hatnlines
mecasuted at
amoriised cost Total
Current liabilities
Trade payables 17,784 17,784
Other payables 1,201 1,201
Accrudls 1,594 1,594
Bank loans W7 907
Total current liab:litres 21,486 21,486
Non-current hiabilities
Bank loans - .
Total non-current habilities - .
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Notes forming part of the Group Accounts

28 Financial instruments fcontinued)

Financial instruments recogmsed in the balance sheet
(continued)

2014

Current assets

Trade recewables

Other recewvables

Cash and cash cquwvalents

Total current assets

Current Liabilities
Trade payables
Other payables
Accruals

Bank loans

Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Bank loans

Total non-current liabilities
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Loans

and

receivables

£'000

30,281

1,060

11,234

42,575

Financial habihiues measured Total
4t amorused cost

16,744 16,744

1,228 1,228

1,490 1,490

238 238

19,700 19,700

903 903

903 903
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Company Balance Sheet

Company numbutr 65619

Al 31 March 2015
£'000s Notcs 2015 2014
Fixed assets
Tangible fixed asscts 22 23
Investments 3 14,613 14,613
14,635 14,636
Current assels
Debtors amounts falling due within one year 4 3,333 3,819
Cash at bank and in hand 11,041 9,137
14,374 12,956
Creditors amounts falling duc within one year 5 (8,402) (4,214)
Net current assets 5,972 8,742
Total assets less current Habilities 20,607 23,378
Creditors amounts falling due after
morc than one year 6 (1,273) (1,305)
Net assets 19,334 22,073
Represented by
Capital and reserves
Called up sharc captal 5,040 5,040
Investment 1n own shares 9 (a77) (17%)
Share-based payment reserve 10 143 123
Profit and loss account 10 14,328 17,085
Equity Sharebolders Funds 19,334 22,073

Thesc accounts were approved and authonsed for 1ssue by the Board of Dircctors on 23 Junc 2015 and signed on 1ts

behalf by

P DL Latham
} Direcrors
D A Dunmow

The notes on pages 60 to 65 form part of these company accounts

b Lectizaann

JAMES LATHAM PLC ANNUAL RFPORT 2015

59




60

Financial Statements

Notes to the Company Accounts

1 Principal accounting policies

The parent company accounts have heen prepared n
accordance with applicable Accounung Standards in the
Umited Kingdom (UK GAAP) A summary of the company
accounting pohiacs, which have been apphied consisiently,
15 sct out below

{a) Basis of accounting

The accounts have been preparcd under the histoncat
st convennon ‘The directors have prepared the financial
statements un the gomg concern basis for the reasons set
oul on pdge 25

I'he company does not present its own profic and loss
account as permutted by Secuon 408 of the Companies
Act 2006 The company profit 1s disclosed 1n note 11 o the
company accounts

Ib} Fixed assets

Fixed assets are stated at cost less depreciation Depreciation
1s provided o0 write off the cost or valuanon over the
esumated useful lives of the assets on a simught hine baws,
a4 fotlows

Plant and machinery 4 10 20 years

l¢) Deferred taxation

Deferred taxatuon 1s recognised 1n tespect of all uming
differences that have ouginated but not reversed at the
balance sheet date where transacuons or evenis that result
i an obhigation to pay more tax in future or a nght to pay
less tax :n future have occutred ar the balance sheet date
Deferred taxatton assets are recogmsed to the extent that
1t 1s regarded as more likely than not that they will be
recoverable against suiable taxahle profits in the future

Miscounung has been applied using appropnate posi-fax
drcount rates

(d] Operating leases

leases in which a significant porwon of the nisks and rewards
of ownership arc rctamed by the lessor are classified as
uperating leases Operdating ledse rentals are charged 1o the
profit and Juss account i the year i which they fall due,
except where proviston has been made for future rents on
unuceupied properiins

te] Pension scheme costs

The James Latham Plc defined benefit pension scheme 1s
a mula-employer scheme due to the histonic complexitics
of the group structure and thus no separatc actuanal
information 1s avadable in respect of the employees of the
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parcnt company Full detas of the basts of calculauon of the
net pension hability s disclosed 1n the group balance sheet
at 31 March 2015, and of the amounts charged/credited to
the group income statement and group equity are set out
 note 18 1o the group accounts In the company accounts,
connibut:ons 1o the defined benefit scheme have been
charged to the profit and loss account as incurred

Pension payments made into the group's defined contribuuon
schemes are chargecl o the pmofit and loss account as they anse

[fl Share-based payments

The accounong for share bascd payments nurroes that of
the group’s accounung policy under IFRS2 as detaded in
note 117 of the group accounts Details of the share-based
pAYMLNEs 4re st out in note 22 to the group dccounts

[g) Investments

Fixed dsset investments m subsidianes are shown at cost
less provision for impairment The carrying values of fixed
asset investments are reviewed at each balance sheet date
1o determinge whether therc s any indication of impatrment
If such indiwanion exists, the carrying value 1s written down
1o s estimated recoverable amount

(i} Treasury shares

Treasury shares are valued on a cost basts Any treasury share
halance at the halance shect date has been transferred as a
deduction to accumulated profits

{j] Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP)

Own sharcs represent the company's shares that are held hy
the company sponsored ESOP trust in relation to the group's
employees share scheme Own shares are deducted at cost
in arrving at sharcholders' equity and gains and losses on
their sale or transfer are recogmsed directly in equuty FSOP 1
ircated seperately and consolidated i the company accounts

k) Financial babilities and equity

Financal lutnlines and eguiy anstruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractudl arrangements
entered 1Nto An equity instrument 1S any contract that
ewidences a residual interest 1n the assets of the company after
deducting all of 1ts habihties

(I Bank borrowings

Interest-beanng bank loans are recorded imally at thewr
fair value, net of direct transacuon costs Such mstruments
are subsequenily canied ar then amorused cost and finance
charges, including premiums payable on settlement or
redempuion, are recogmised tn the income statement over
the term of the instrument using an effective rate of interest
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2. Tangible fixed assets

Cost
At 1 Apul 2014
Additions

At 31 March 2015

Depreciation
At 1 April 2014
Provision for the year

At 31 March 2014
Net book value

At 31 March 2015
At 31 March 2014

3. Fixed asset investments

Shares

At 1 Apnl 2014 and 31 March 2015

Loans

At 1 Apnil 2014 and 31 March 2015

Total at 31 March 2015 and 31 March 2014

Notes to the Company Accounts

Flant, equipment
and vehicles

£000

353
2

355

330
3

333

———

22

—————

23

Subsidiary undertakings
1000
9,613

5,000

14,613

The loan to Lathams Limated has no fixed repayment terms and interest 1s charged at a rate of 1 25% above base rate per
annum Derails of subsidiary companies are given 1in note 12 to the company accounts

4 Debtors. amounts falling due within one year

Trade debrors

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings

Other debtors
Corporatton ax

Deferred taxation (note 7)

Prepayments

2015
£'000

-
2,328
2
970

21
3,333

2014
£000

23
2,985
1

785

19
3,819
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Company Accounts

5. Creditors amounts falling due within one year 2015 2014
£'000 £'000
Bank overdraft 7,563 3,390
frade creditors 21 35
Other taxation and social secunty 497 466
Other creditors 237 236
Accrudls and deforred income 84 87
8,402 4,214
é. Creditors amounts falling due after more than one year 2015 2014
5000 £'000
Acctudls and defened income 286 318
8% Cumulauve Preference Shares of $1 each (note 8) 987 987
1,273 1,305
Bank loans and overdrafts are secured by fixed and floatng charges over the assets of the company and its subsihanes
7 Deferred taxation
Included in debiors (note 4) 15 a deferred taxauon assct of 2015 2014
£5,000 £6,00
5 (2014 £6,000) %000 £000
[he deferred taxauon provision compnses
Accelerated capral allowances (5) 6)
[iming differences on ponsion adjustments - -
Undiscounied provision for deferred tax (5) ()]
hscount - -
Discounted provision for deferred tax (5) (6)

Deferred iaxation s provided ar a rate of 20% (2014 20%)
some ur all of the, deferred taxation debtur may be recoverable after more than one yedr

8. Share capital

Details of the share capital of the company are set out in note 22 10 the consolidated accounts
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9. Investment in own shares

Shares
At 1 Apnl 2014
Movements duning the year

Total at 31 March 2015
Fotal at 31 March 2014

Notes to the Company Accounts

£'000

175
2

177
175

The investment 1n own shares reprosents 36,879 25p ardinary shares (2014 67,080 25p ordinary shares) hedd on behalt
of the James Latham plc Emplovee Bonefits Trusi, a discreuonary trust Dividends have been waved and all income and
expenditure of the trust has been dealt with through the group’s income statement None of these shares have been

allocated to employces

10. Reserves

At Apni 2014

Profit tor the year

NDividends

Exercise of opuons
converstons of ESOP shares
Share-based payment expense

At 31 March 2015

Profit and Share-bascd

loss account Payment rescrve Total
£°000 £'000 5’000
17,085 123 17,208

(453) - (455)

(2,267) - (2,267)
47 “7n -

(82) . (82)
- 67 67
14,328 143 14,471

At 31 March 2014 719,200 (2013 719,200) 25p Ordinary shares were held by the company as Treasury Shares These shares
will be either used W mect existing employee share opuon plan requirements or will be cancelled

11. Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds 2015
£'000
Loss for the financial year (455)
Dividends (2,267)
(2,722)
Change 1n investment in ESOP shares (84)
Movement 1n share based payment reserve 67
Reduction in shareholders’ funds (2,739)
Opening shareholders funds 22,073
Closing shareholders funds 19,334
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Notes to the Company Accounts

12 Principal subsidiary undertakings

Namc

Lathams Limited

James Eatham Trustee Limited

[DT Westerham Lamited

Bausen Linuted

James Latham (Mudland and Western) Limited*
Advanced Technical Panels Limited*

Latham Timber Centres (Brdgwater) Limucd

James Latham (Warchousing) Limated

* Indirectly held

Countrv of
INCOrPOraon

England and Wales

England and Wales

England and Wales
England and Wales
Fngland and Walcs
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales

All companics operate within the United Kingdom

13. Leasing commitments

Ciass of shaies

L1 Ordinary

%1 Ordinary

41 Ordinary
41 Ordinary
L1 Ordinary
41 Ordinary
£1 Ordinary
41 Ordinary

Percentage
of owncrshp

100%

100%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

Paincipal acuvity

Imporung and

distribution of nmber

and panel products

Corporate Trustee
Company

Dormant
Dormant
Dormant
Dormant
Dormant

Dormant

Leasing commitments under vanous operaung lease contracts for vehicles, plant and property payable by the company

Vehicles and plant
Leases expirng within one year
Leases expining within two 10 five years

Property
Leases cxpinng after more than five years

14 Related party transactions

2015
£'000

20
23

87

2014
£000

23
25

87

The company has taken advantage of the exemption in FR38 Related Partics not to disclose transacuions with the acuve

subsichary company
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Notes to the Company Accounts

15. Financialinstruments

Risk management disclosures as applicable to the group as a whole are sct out in note 28 10 the consolidated financial
statermncnts

The company's financal instruments comprise cash, bank loans and bank overdrafts, other creditors and vanous items
ariing directly fiom 1ts operatuons, such as trade debtors and wrade creditors Trade debtors, rrade creditors, group
balances and othct items arsing directly from operations have been excluded from the following disclosures The main
purpose of these financial instiuments 15 to provide working capital and 10 assist with the puichase of capial asscts for
the company

‘The company's policy 1 10 obtain the highest rate of return on s cash balances, subject 1o having sufficient resources
to manage the business on a day 10 day basis and not exposing the company to unnecessary risk of default

The compdny s tash at bank s all in sterling atcounts

The total borrowing faulines available to the company which were undrawn as at 51 March 2015 werc

5
Repavable on demand 1,000,000
The carrving value of all financial instruments © not matenally different from ther tar vatue
16. Dividends 2015 2014
£'000 £'000 £000 £000
Orchinary dividends
Final 8 Op per share pad 22 August 2014 (2013 7 1p) 1,549 1,372
Intenim 3 7p per share paid 30 Januarv 2015 (2014 3 dp) 718 659
2,267 2,031

I'he Directors propose a final dividend for 2015 of 8 8p per share, that, subject o approval by the shareholders, will be
paid on 28 August 2015 1o shareholders on the register on 7 August 2015

Bascd on the number of shares currently in 1ssue, the final dividend for 2015 15 expected to absorb £1,711,000
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

Notice 1s hereby given that the one hundred and
sixteenth Annual General Meeung of the Company will
be held at Unit 3, Swallow Park, Finway Road, Hemel
Hempstead, Hentfordshire, HPZ 7QU on Wednesday
26th August 2015 at 12 30pm Resolutions 1 1o 9 inclusive
will be proposcd as ordinary resolutions, and resolutions
10 and 11 will be proposed as special resclutions

Ordinary business

1 To recaive and adopt the Direciors’ Report and
Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2015 together
with the Independent Audicors report thereon

2 Todeclare the final dividend recommended by the
directors on the ondinary shares of the Company

3 lore-elect Pippa Latham as a director, who reures
by rotation

4 Tore-elect Meryl Bushell a5 a dircctor who reures
by rotauon

5 To re-tlect David Dunmow as a director, who retires
by rotauon

6 To elect Andrew Wright as a director, who was
appoinied during the year

7 lore-appomt Baker Tilly UK Audsit LLP, Chariered
Accountanis, as auditors to hold eoffice from the
conclusion of the mecting to the conclusion of the
next meeting at which accounts are laid before the
Company, at a remuncraton to be determined by
the directors

8 Touamend the rules of the James Latham PLC
Savings Related Share Opuon Scheme o stdte
that the maximum monthly contribution from
cach cligible employee 15 to be increased o the
maximum allowed under the Income Tax (Earnings
and Pensions) Act 2003 or superceding legislanon

Special business

9 Dircctons authonty to allot shares 16 consider, and
tf thought fit, pass the following resolution “THAT in
subsutution for all existng authonties, o the exent
unused, the dircctors be and they are generally and
unconditionally authonsed for the purposes of sccuon
551 of the Companies Act 2006 o exercise all the
powers of the Company to allot equity secunties up to
an aggregate nomunal amount of £1,680,000 provided
that thas authonty shall expire at the earlier of the
conclusion of the Company’s next Annual General
Meeung or 15 months from the daie of the passing
of this resoluuon and that the Company may before
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such expiry make offers or agreements which would
or might require relevant sccunues to be allotied
after such expury and the Directors may allot relevant
sccuntics 1n pursuance of such ofters or agreemenis
notwithstanding that the authonity conferred has
expired  The expression ‘equity sccunes’ and
‘allotment shall bear the same mecanings respecuvely
given to the same 1n sccuon 560 Companics Act 2006~

10 Prsapplcauon of pre-empuon nghis 1o conswder,
and if thought fit, pass the following resolutton
*THAT subject to the passing of the previous
Resolunion 9 pursuant w section 571 of the
Companics Act 2006, sccuon 561 of the Companies
Act 2006 shall not apply to any allotment or
agreement to allot equity secornues pursudnt to the
authority conferred by Resoluuon 9

(a) thas power shall be imued w0

(1) the allotment of equity scecunitics 1n connection
with or subject to an ofter or invitation, open for
deceplance for a peniod fixed by the Directors,
to the holders of Ordinary Shares on the regisier
on a fixed record date 1n proporuon (as nearlv
as maybe) to their respecuve holdings or in
accordance with the nights attached thercio
(ncluding equity secuniites which, in connecuon
with such offcr or mvitation, are the subject of
such exclusions or other arrangements as the
Directors may deem necessary o1 expedient
to deal with the fracuonal enatlements which
would othcrwise anse or with legal or pracucal
problems under the laws of, or the requirements
of any recognised regulatory body or any stock
exchange 1n any terntory or otherwise how so
ever), and

(1) other than pursuant to paragraph (a)(1) of this
Resolution, the allotments of cquity sceuntics
tur Lash up w an aggregate nommal amount ot
£252,000, and

(b) this powcr shall expire at the carlier of the
conclusion of the next Annual General Meeung
of the Company or 15 months from the date after
passtng of this Resolution except that the Directors
may allot equity securiies under this power atter
that date 1o sausfv an offer or agreement made
before this power expired ™
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11 Authority of the Company to purchase its own
shares To consder and, if thought fit, pass the
following rescluuon * THAT the Company be and
v generally and uncondiionally authorised to make
one ar more market purchases (within the meaning
of sccuon 693 (4) of the Compamics Act 2006) of 1ts
Ordinary Sharcs of 25p cach provided that

(a) the maximum  aggregaie number of Ordinary
Shares which may be purchased 15 2,016,000
(representing 10% of the 1ssucd share capual of
the Company),

(b) thc price at which Ordinary Shares may be
purchased shall not be more than 105% of the
average of the closing muddle market price for
the Ordmary Shares as denived from the AIM
secuon of the London Stock Exchange Daly
Official List for the five business days preceding
the date of purchase and shall not be less than
25p per Ordinary Share (in both cases exclusive

of expenases}, and

{c) this power shall expire at the earlier ol the
conclusion of the next Annual General Mecting of
the Company or 15 months from the date of the
passing of this resoluuon ™

By Order of the Board
D A Dunmow

Company Secretary

Registered Office Unut 3, Swallow Park, Finway Road
Hemel Hempstead, Hertfordshire HP2 7QU

23 June 2015

Notes
The Report and Accounts are sent to all members of
the Company

Holdcrs of preference shares are not enatled to be
present, either personally or by proxy, or 10 vote at
any general mecnng so long as the dividends on such
prefercnce shares are regularly paid or unless 4 resolution
i 1o he proposed for winding up the Company, reducing
1ts capital or selling its undertaking or adverscly affccung
the nights of the holders of prefoeence shares

A momber entitded o attend and vore at the abowve
Mceung 5 enutled W appoint one or More proxies to
attend, speak and vote on histher behalf A proxy need
not be 2 member of the Company

Any corporation which 15 a member can appoint one or
more corporate representatives who may cxercise on its
behalf all of 1ts powers as a member provided that they
do not do so 1n relanon to the same shares

A proxy form n encdoscd To be vald, 11 must be
lodged with the Company » Registrars at Computershare
Investor Services PLC, The Paviions Brnidgwater Road,
Bristol BS99 6£Y, not later than 48 hours before the
fixed ume for the Mecung

Copies of dircctons’ contracts o serviee, the register of
interests of directors, the Company's memorandum ol
association and the arncles of associauon will be available
for inspecuon at the Registercd Office dunng normal
business hours from the date of the above notice unul
the close of the meeung

In accordance with Regulauon 41 of the Uncerufied
Secunues Regulatnons 2001 only those members eligible
to vote and entered on the Companys register of
members as at 12 30pm on Monday 24 August 2015
arc entitled 1o atend and vote at the mecung, or, if
the mecting 15 adjourned, sharcholders entcred on the
Compdny's register of members not later than 48 hours
before the ume fixed for the adjourned mecung shall be
entitled to attend and vote at the adjourned meeung

At 23rd June 2015, the Company's 1ssued share capual
consisted of 20,160,000 shares of which 719,200 shares
arc held in Ireasury Each share not held in [reasury
carnies one vote The total number of voung nghts are
therefore 19,440,800
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Share dealing service for sharehelders

We conunte 10 operaic a telephone share dealing service
with our registrar, Computershare Investor Services
PIC, which provides sharcholders with a simple way
of buying or selling James Latham plc ordinary shares
on the London Stock Exchange the commission 1s
1%, subject to 4 minimum charge of 235 there are no
furms to comploie and the share price at which you
deal will generally be contirmed w0 you whilst vou are
stll on the tclephone The service (s available from
8am 1o 430pm Monday to Friday excluding bank
holidays on telephone number 0870 703 0084 Pleasc
ensure you have your Sharcholder Reference Number
(SRN) ready when making the call The SRN appears
on your share ccruficate In addion an internct share
dealing service 15 available by logging into your account
on www-uk computershare com/investor  The fee for
this senvice will be 1% of the value of cach sale or
purchase of shares, subject to a munimum of £30 Ihere
are no additional charges for it orders (available for
sales only) No stamp duty 1s currently payable on share
transfers Detaled terms and conditions are available
an request, pleasc phone 0870 707 1093

This 15 not a recommendaron 1o buy, sell or hold shares
in James Latham plc If you arc unsure of what acuon
1o take contact a financial adviser authonsed under the
Financial crvices and Markets Act 2000 Please note that
share values may go down as well as up, which may result
n you receving less than you onganally invested

In so far as this statement constitutes a financal
promauon for the share dealing service provided by
Computershdre Investor Services 1t has been approved
by Computershare Investor Services PLO tor the purpose
of Section 21(2)(b) of the Finanuial Services and Markets
Act 2000 only Computershare Investor Services PIC 1s
regulaied by the Financial Semnces Authonty

Where this has been recewved in a country where the

provision of such a service would be contrary to local laws
or regulatons, this should be treated as informaucn only
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